Tangents and pointwise Assouad dimension of invariant sets

ANTTI KÄENMÄKI & ALEX RUTAR

ABSTRACT. We study the fine scaling properties of sets satisfying various weak forms of invariance. Our focus is on the interrelated concepts of (weak) tangents, Assouad dimension, and a new localized variant which we call the pointwise Assouad dimension. For general attractors of possibly overlapping bi-Lipschitz iterated function systems, we establish that the Assouad dimension is given by the Hausdorff dimension of a tangent at some point in the attractor. Under the additional assumption of self-conformality, we moreover prove that this property holds for a subset of full Hausdorff dimension. We then turn our attention to an intermediate class of sets: namely planar self-affine carpets. For Gatzouras–Lalley carpets, we obtain precise information about tangents which, in particular, shows that points with large tangents are very abundant. However, already for Barański carpets, we see that more complex behaviour is possible.

CONTENTS

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Weak tangents, tangents, and pointwise Assouad dimension	3	
	1.2	Main results and outline of paper	4	
	1.3	Some variants for future work	7	
	1.4	Notation	8	
2	Tangents and pointwise Assouad dimension			
	2.1	Tangents and weak tangents	8	
	2.2	Level sets and measurability	.0	
	2.3	Tangents and pointwise dimensions of general sets	1	
	2.4	Tangents of dynamically invariant sets	.4	
3	Assouad dimension of non-autonomous self-similar sets			
	3.1	Non-autonomous self-similar sets	.9	
	3.2	Metric trees	20	
	3.3	Reduction to symbolic representation	<u>'</u> 1	
	3.4	Regularity properties of Assouad dimension	23	
	3.5	Proof of the Assouad dimension formula	27	

4	Tang	ent structure and dimension of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets	28			
	4.1	Gatzouras–Lalley and Barański carpets	29			
	4.2	Approximate squares and symbolic slices	32			
	4.3	Tangents of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets	34			
	4.4	Upper bounds for the pointwise Assouad dimension	36			
	4.5	Dimensions of level sets of pointwise Assouad dimension	40			
5	Tangent structure and dimension of Barański carpets					
	5.1	Dimensions and decompositions of Barański carpets	45			
	5.2	Pointwise Assouad dimension along uniformly contracting sequences	46			
	5.3	Barański carpets with few large tangents	50			
Ac	Acknowledgements					
Re	References					

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the most fundamental concepts at the intersection of analysis and geometry is the notion of a *tangent*. For sets exhibiting a high degree of local regularity—such as manifolds, or rectifiable sets—at almost every point in the set and at all sufficiently high resolutions, the set looks essentially linear. Moreover, the concept of a tangent is particularly relevant in the study of a much broader class of sets: those equipped with some form of dynamical invariance. This relationship originates in the pioneering work of Furstenberg, where one associates to a set a certain dynamical system of "zooming in". Especially in the past two decades, the study of tangent measures has played an important role in the resolution of a number of long-standing problems concerning sets which look essentially the same at all small scales; see, for example, [HS12; HS15; KSS15; Shm19; Wu19].

In contrast, (weak) tangents also play an important role in the geometry of metric spaces. One of the main dimensional quantities in the context of embeddability properties of metric spaces is the Assouad dimension, first introduced in [Ass77]. It turns out that the Assouad dimension, which bounds the worst-case scaling at all locations and all small scales, is precisely the maximal Hausdorff dimension of weak tangents, i.e. sets which are given as a limit of small pieces of enlarged copies of the original set; see [KOR17]. We refer the reader to the books [Fra20; MT10; Rob11] for more background and context on the importance of Assouad dimension in a variety of diverse applications.

In this document, we study the interrelated concepts of tangents and Assouad dimension, with an emphasis on sets with a weak form of dynamical invariance. Our motivating examples include attractors of iterated function systems where the maps are affinities (or even more generally bi-Lipschitz contractions); or the maps are conformal and there are substantial overlaps. In both of these situations, the sets exhibit a large amount of local inhomogeneity. As we will see, these classes of sets exhibits a rich variety of behaviour while still retaining some fundamental properties.



FIGURE 1. Some self-embeddable sets, which are attractors of the iterated function systems depicted in Figure 2.

1.1. Weak tangents, tangents, and pointwise Assouad dimension. Throughout, we will work in \mathbb{R}^d for some $d \in \mathbb{N}$, though many of our results hold in the broader context of bounded doubling metric spaces. We let B(x, r) denote the closed ball with centre x and radius r.

Now, fix a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. We say that a compact set $F \subset B(0,1)$ is a *weak tangent* of $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ if there exists a sequence of similarity maps $(T_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ with similarity ratios λ_k diverging to infinity such that $0 \in T_k(K)$ and

$$F = \lim_{k \to \infty} T_k(K) \cap B(0,1)$$

with respect to the Hausdorff metric on compact subsets of B(0, 1). We denote the set of weak tangents of K by Tan(K). More strongly, we say that F is a *tangent of* K at x if F is a weak tangent and the similarity maps T_k are homotheties which map x to 0; i.e. $T_k(y) = \lambda_k(y - x)$. We denote the set of tangents of K at x by Tan(K, x). We refer the reader to §2.1 for precise definitions.

Closely related to the notion of a weak tangent is the *Assouad dimension* of *K*, which is the dimensional quantity

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} K = \inf \left\{ s : \exists C > 0 \,\forall 0 < r \le R < 1 \,\forall x \in K \\ N_r(B(x, R) \cap K) \le C \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^s \right\}$$

Here, for a general bounded set F, $N_r(F)$ is the smallest number of closed balls with radius r required to cover F. It always holds that $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K \leq \overline{\dim}_{\mathrm{B}} K \leq \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K$, where $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K$ and $\overline{\dim}_{\mathrm{B}} K$ denote the Hausdorff and upper box dimensions respectively. In some sense, the Assouad dimension is the largest reasonable notion of dimension which can be defined using covers. Continuing the analogy with tangents, we also introduce a localized version of the Assouad dimension which we call the *pointwise Assouad dimension*. Given $x \in K$, we set

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) = \inf \left\{ s : \exists C > 0 \, \exists \rho > 0 \, \forall 0 < r \le R < \rho \\ N_r(B(x, R) \cap K) \le C \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^s \right\}$$

The choice of $\rho > 0$ in the definition of $\dim_A(K, x)$ ensures a sensible form of bi-Lipschitz invariance: if $f: K \to K'$ is bi-Lipschitz, then $\dim_A(K, x) = \dim_A(f(K), f(x))$. It is immediate from the definition that

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) \le \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K.$$

Moreover, if for instance *K* is Ahlfors–David regular, then $\dim_A(K, x) = \dim_A K$ for all $x \in K$. We note here that an analogous notion of pointwise Assouad dimension for measures was introduced recently in [Ant22+].

An observation which goes back essentially to Furstenberg, but was observed explicitly in [KOR17], is that the Assouad dimension is characterized by weak tangents:

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} K = \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{H}} F : F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K)\}.$$

Motivated by this relationship, our primary goal in this document is to address the following questions:

- Does it hold that $\dim_A(K, x) = \max{\dim_H F : F \in Tan(K, x)}$?
- Is there necessarily an $x_0 \in K$ so that $\dim_A K = \dim_H F$ for some $F \in Tan(K, x_0)$? If not, is there an $x_0 \in K$ so that $\dim_A K = \dim_A(K, x_0)$?
- What is the structure of the level set of pointwise Assouad dimension {x ∈ K : dim_A(K, x) = α} for some α ≥ 0?

In the following section, we discuss our main results and provide some preliminary answers which indicate that answers to these questions are, in general, quite subtle.

1.2. Main results and outline of paper. We begin by stating some easy properties of the pointwise Assouad dimension for general compact sets $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. Firstly, by Proposition 2.2,

$$\sup\{\overline{\dim}_{\mathbf{B}} F : F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)\} \le \dim_{\mathbf{A}}(K, x) \le \dim_{\mathbf{A}} K$$

for all $x \in K$ and, by Proposition 2.8 (ii), there is always an $x \in K$ so that $\overline{\dim}_{B} K \leq \dim_{A}(K, x)$. However, in general one cannot hope for more than this: an example in [LR15] already has the property that $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that $\dim_{A} K = 1$ but $\dim_{A}(K, x) = 0$ for all $x \in K$ (see Example 2.10 for more detail); and moreover, in Example 2.11, we construct a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ with a point $x \in K$ so that $\dim_{A}(K, x) = 1$ but each $F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)$ consists of at most two points.

However, many commonly studied families of "fractal" sets have a form of dynamical invariance, which is far from the case for general sets. As a result, it is of interest to determine general conditions under which the Assouad dimension is actually attained as the pointwise Assouad dimension at some point. To this end, we make the following definition.

Definition 1.1. We say that a compact set *K* is *self-embeddable* if for each $z \in K$ and $0 < r \le \text{diam } K$, there is a constant a = a(z, r) > 0 and a function $f : K \to B(z, r) \cap K$ so that

(1.1)
$$ar|x-y| \le |f(x) - f(y)| \le a^{-1}r|x-y|.$$

for all $x, y \in K$. We say that *K* is *uniformly self-embeddable* if the constant a(z, r) can be chosen independently of *z* and *r*.

The class of self-embeddable sets is very broad and includes, for example, attractors of every possibly overlapping iterated function system $\{f_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$, where \mathcal{I} is a finite index set and f_i is a strictly contracting bi-Lipschitz map from \mathbb{R}^d to \mathbb{R}^d .

The class of *uniformly* self-embeddable sets includes the attractors of finite overlapping self-conformal iterated function systems. It is perhaps useful to compare uniform self-embeddability with quasi self-similarity, as introduced by Falconer [Fal89]. Our assumption is somewhat stronger since we also require the upper bound to hold in (1.1). This assumption is critical to our work since, in general, maps satisfying only the lower bound can decrease Assouad dimension. We also note that uniform self-embeddability is the primary assumption in [AKT20, Theorem 2.1].

Within this general class of sets, we establish the following result which guarantees the existence of at least one large tangent under self-embeddability, and an abundance of tangents under uniform self-embeddability.

Theorem A. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be compact and self-embeddable. Then:

- (i) $\overline{\dim}_{\mathrm{B}} K \leq \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x)$ for all $x \in K$.
- (ii) There is an $x \in K$ and $F \in Tan(K, x)$ so that $\mathcal{H}^{\dim_A K}(F) > 0$. In particular, $\dim_H F = \dim_A(K, x) = \dim_A K$.

If K is uniformly self-embeddable, then there is a constant c > 0 so that

(1.2) $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{ x \in K : \exists F \in \mathrm{Tan}(K, x) \text{ with } \mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{A}} K}(F) \ge c \} = \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K.$

The proof of Theorem A can be obtained by combining Theorem 2.12, Proposition 2.13, and Theorem 2.14. As a special case of the result for uniformly self-embeddable sets, suppose K is the attractor of a finite self-similar IFS in the real line with Hausdorff dimension s < 1. In this case there is a dichotomy: either $\mathcal{H}^{s}(K) > 0$, in which case K is Ahlfors–David regular, or dim_A K = 1. In particular, (1.2) cannot be improved in general to give a set with positive Hausdorff *s*-measure.

Beyond being of general interest, we believe this result will be a useful technical tool in the study of Assouad dimension for general attractors of bi-Lipschitz invariant sets. For instance, a common technique in studying attractors of iterated function systems is to relate the underlying geometry to symbolic properties associated with the coding space. Upper bounding the Hausdorff dimension of tangents is *a priori* easier since one may fix in advance a coding for the point. This is the situation, for example, in [BKR21, Theorem 5.2].

In Theorem A, we have established weak conditions which guarantee the existence of at least one large tangent, and relatively strong conditions which guarantee a set of points of full Hausdorff dimension with large tangents. A natural question to address is the following: to what extent do the results for uniformly self-embeddable sets extend to more general sets? Moreover, can we obtain even more precise information for specific families of sets?

With these questions in mind, we now turn our attention to two specific families of affine iterated function systems in the plane: specifically, the planar



FIGURE 2. Generating maps associated with a Gatzouras–Lalley and Barański system. The parameters from the Barański carpet correspond to the example in Corollary 5.6 with $\delta = 1/40$.

self-affine carpets of *Gatzouras–Lalley* [LG92] and *Barański* [Bar07]. Note that these sets are self-embeddable but (except for some degenerate cases) not uniformly self-embeddable. We defer precise definitions and notation to §4.1; see Figure 2 for examples of the generating maps in these classes. In the following statement, let $\eta: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be the orthogonal projection onto the first coordinate axis and for $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ let ℓ_x be the vertical line containing x.

Theorem B. Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet. Then

$$\mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K}(\{x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) \neq \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K\}) = 0.$$

On the other hand, for any $\dim_{\mathrm{B}} K \leq \alpha \leq \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K$ *,*

 $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{ x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) = \alpha \} = \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K.$

Moreover, if $\eta(K)$ *satisfies the SSC, then for any* $x \in K$ *,*

- (i) $\max\{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} F : F \in \mathrm{Tan}(K, x)\} = \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{A}} \ell_{x} \cap K$,
- (*ii*) dim_A(K, x) = max{dim_B K, dim_B $\eta(K)$ + dim_A $\ell_x \cap K$ }.

Of course, if $\alpha \notin [\dim_B K, \dim_A K]$, then $\{x \in K : \dim_A(K, x) = \alpha\} = \emptyset$. It follows immediately from Theorem B that

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) = \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{H}} F : F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)\}$$

if and only if $\dim_A \ell_x \cap K \ge \dim_B K - \dim_B \eta(K)$. Moreover, if $s = \dim_H K$, then $\mathcal{H}^s(K) > 0$ and furthermore $\mathcal{H}^s(K) < \infty$ if and only if K is Ahlfors–David regular (see [LG92]), in which case the results are trivial. We thus see that the majority of points, from the perspective of Hausdorff *s*-measure, have tangents with Hausdorff dimension attaining the Assouad dimension of K. However, we still have an abundance of points with pointwise Assouad dimension giving any other reasonable value.

The proof of Theorem B is obtained by combining Theorem 4.12 and Theorem 4.14. The dimensional results given in (i) and (ii) exhibit a precise version of a well-known phenomenon: at small scales, properly self-affine sets and measures look like products of the projection with slices. Note that, in order to obtain (i) and (ii), the strong separation condition in the projection is required or the pointwise Assouad dimension could be incorrect along sequences which are "arbitrarily close together at small scales". The formula holds for more general Gatzouras– Lalley carpets if one restricts attention to points where this does not happen (see Definition 4.3).

For Gatzouras–Lalley carpets with projection onto the first coordinate axis satisfying the strong separation condition, slices through x are precisely attractors of a non-autonomous iterated function system corresponding to the sequence of columns containing the point x (such a phenomenon was exploited in a more general setting in [FR22+]). In fact, as a pre-requisite to the proof of Theorem B, we establish a general formula for the Assouad dimension of non-autonomous self-similar sets satisfying the open set condition and with contraction ratios bounded uniformly from below. This is given in Theorem 3.7. The proof of Theorem 3.7, and indeed Theorem B, depends on some general properties of Assouad dimension which are elementary but may be of independent interest: certain subadditive regularity properties given in Corollary 3.5, and a reformulation of the Assouad dimension in terms of disc-packing bounds given in Proposition 3.6.

However, it turns out that the fact that Gatzouras–Lalley carpets have an abundance of large tangents does not extend to the non-dominated setting.

Theorem C. There exists a Barański carpet K such that

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{ x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) = \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K \} < \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K \}$$

In other words, the conclusion of Theorem A for uniformly self-embeddable sets does not necessarily extend beyond the uniformly self-embeddable case, even in the at first glance minor generalization consisting only of strictly diagonal self-affine functions acting in \mathbb{R}^2 . The proof of Theorem C is given in Corollary 5.6, and it follows from a more general result (Theorem 5.4) describing when Barański carpets satisfying certain separation conditions have a large number of large tangents. This result can be found in Theorem 5.4, and it follows from more general formulas for the pointwise Assouad dimension at points which are coded by sequences which contract uniformly in one direction; see Proposition 5.3 for a precise formulation.

1.3. Some variants for future work. Let ϕ : $(0,1) \rightarrow (0,1)$ be a fixed function. We then define the *pointwise* ϕ -*Assouad dimension*, given by

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}^{\phi}(K, x) = \inf \Big\{ s : \exists C > 0 \,\forall 0 < r < 1 \\ N_{r^{1+\phi(r)}} \big(B(x, r) \cap K \big) \le Cr^{-\phi(r)s} \Big\}.$$

It is a straightforward to see that

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}^{\phi}(K,x) = \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\log N_{r^{1+\phi(r)}} \left(B(x,r) \cap K \right)}{\phi(r) \log(1/r)}$$

The ϕ -Assouad dimensions are an example of *dimension interpolation* [Fra21] and have been studied in detail in [BRT23+; GHM21]. In the specific case that $\phi(R) = \frac{1}{\theta} - 1$ for some $\theta \in (0, 1)$, this corresponds precisely to the Assouad spectrum [FY18] which (abusing notation) we may denote by $\dim_A^{\theta}(K, x)$. In general, we expect the properties of the pointwise Assouad spectrum to be substantially different than the properties of the pointwise Assouad dimension.

For instance, in particular for Gatzouras–Lalley carpets, as $\theta \to 0$ one would expect to only witness the box dimension at every point in K, and as $\theta \to 1$ one would expect to witness the Hausdorff dimension of a maximal tangent, even when this quantity may be smaller than box dimension. In particular, it may happen that $\lim_{\theta\to 0} \dim_A^{\theta}(K, x) > \lim_{\theta\to 1} \dim_A^{\theta}(K, x)$. For intermediate values of θ , since the pointwise Assouad spectrum is determined by exponentially separated pairs of scales, it is likely that the value would depend in an essential way on the local dimensions of Bernoulli measures projected onto the first coordinate axis.

One might also consider the dual notion of the *pointwise lower dimension*, defined for $x \in K$ by

$$\dim_{\mathcal{L}}(K, x) = \sup \left\{ s : \exists C > 0 \, \exists \rho > 0 \, \forall 0 < r \le R < \rho \\ N_r(B(x, R) \cap K) \ge C \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^s \right\}$$

It is established in [FHK+19] that the lower dimension may be analogously characterized as the minimum of Hausdorff dimensions of weak tangents. Therefore, a natural question is to ask if similar results hold for the pointwise lower dimension as well. However, the proofs we have given for Theorem A do not immediately translate to the case of the lower dimension since overlaps may increase dimension. On the other hand, the results concerning Gatzouras–Lalley carpets in Theorem B translate directly to the analogous lower dimension counterparts with appropriate modifications.

Finally, we note that an analogous notion for the pointwise Assouad dimension of measures was recently introduced in [Ant22+]. It would be interesting to investigate the relationship between these two notions of pointwise dimension.

1.4. Notation. Throughout, we work in \mathbb{R}^d equipped with the usual Euclidean metric. Write $\mathbb{R}_+ = (0, \infty)$. Given functions f and g, we say that $f \leq g$ if there is a constant C > 0 so that $f(x) \leq Cg(x)$ for all x in the domain of f and g. We write $f \approx g$ if $f \leq g$ and $g \leq f$.

2. TANGENTS AND POINTWISE ASSOUAD DIMENSION

2.1. Tangents and weak tangents. To begin this section, we precisely define the notions of tangent and weak tangent, and establish the fundamental relationship

between the dimensions of tangents and the pointwise Assound dimension. Given a set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\delta > 0$, we denote the *open* δ -*neighbourhood* of E by

$$E^{(\delta)} = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \exists y \in E \text{ such that } |x - y| < \delta \}.$$

Now given a non-empty subset $X \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, we let $\mathcal{K}(X)$ denote the set of non-empty compact subsets of *X* equipped with the *Hausdorff metric*

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(K_1, K_2) = \max\{p_{\mathcal{H}}(K_1; K_2), p_{\mathcal{H}}(K_2; K_1)\}$$

where

$$p_{\mathcal{H}}(K_1; K_2) = \inf\{\delta > 0 : K_1 \subset K_2^{(\delta)}\}$$

If X is compact, then $(\mathcal{K}(X), d_{\mathcal{H}})$ is a compact metric space itself. We also write

$$dist(E_1, E_2) = \inf\{|x - y| : x \in E_1, y \in E_2\}$$

for non-empty sets $E_1, E_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^d$.

We say that a set $F \in \mathcal{K}(B(0,1))$ is a *weak tangent* of $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ if there exists a sequence of similarity maps $(T_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ with $0 \in T_k(K)$ and similarity ratios λ_k diverging to infinity such that

$$F = \lim_{k \to \infty} T_k(K) \cap B(0,1)$$

in $\mathcal{K}(B(0,1))$. We denote the set of weak tangents of K by Tan(K). A key feature of the Assouad dimension is that it is characterized by Hausdorff dimensions of weak tangents. This result is originally from [KOR17, Proposition 5.7]. We refer the reader to [Fra20, Section 5.1] for more discussion on the context and history of this result.

Proposition 2.1 ([KOR17]). We have

$$\alpha \coloneqq \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K = \max_{F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K)} \dim_{\mathcal{H}} F.$$

Moreover, the maximizing weak tangent F can be chosen so that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(F) > 0$.

In a similar flavour, we say that *F* is a *tangent of K* at $x \in K$ if there exists a sequence of similarity ratios $(\lambda_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ diverging to infinity such that

$$F = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k (K - x) \cap B(0, 1)$$

in $\mathcal{K}(B(0,1))$. We denote the set of tangents of *K* at *x* by Tan(K, x).

Of course, $Tan(K, x) \subset Tan(K)$. Unlike in the case for weak tangents, we require the similarities in the construction of the tangent to in fact be homotheties. This choice is natural since, for example, a function $f \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is differentiable at x if and only if the set of tangents of the graph of f at (x, f(x)) is the singleton

 $\{B(0,1) \cap \ell\}$ for some non-vertical line ℓ passing through the origin. In practice, compactness of the group of orthogonal transformations in \mathbb{R}^d means this restriction will not cause any technical difficulties.

We observe that upper box dimensions of tangents provide a lower bound for the pointwise Assouad dimension.

Proposition 2.2. For any compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ and $x \in K$, $\dim_A(K, x) \geq \overline{\dim}_B F$ for any $F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)$.

Proof. Let $\alpha > \dim_A(K, x)$ and suppose $F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)$: we will show that $\overline{\dim}_{B} F \leq \alpha$. First, get C > 0 such that for each $0 < r \leq R < 1$,

$$N_r(B(x,R) \cap K) \le C\left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\alpha}$$

Let $\delta > 0$ be arbitrary, and get a similarity T with similarity ratio λ such that T(x) = 0 and

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(T(K) \cap B(0,1), F) \le \delta.$$

Then there is a uniform constant M > 0 so that

$$M \cdot N_{\delta}(F) \le N_{\delta}(T(K) \cap B(0,1)) = N_{\delta\lambda}(K \cap B(x,\lambda)) \le C\left(\frac{\lambda}{\delta\lambda}\right)^{\alpha} = C\delta^{-\alpha}.$$
other words, $\overline{\dim}_{\mathbf{P}} F \le \alpha$.

In other words, $\dim_{\mathrm{B}} F \leq \alpha$.

One should not expect equality to hold in general: in Example 2.11, we construct an example of a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ and a point $x \in K$ so that $\dim_A(K, x) = 1$ but every $F \in Tan(K, x)$ consists of at most 2 points.

2.2. Level sets and measurability. We now make some observations concerning the multifractal properties of the function $x \mapsto \dim_A(K, x)$. In particular, we are interested in the following quantities:

$$\mathcal{A}(K,\alpha) = \{x \in K : \dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K,x) = \alpha\}$$
 and $\varphi(\alpha) = \dim_{\mathcal{H}} \mathcal{A}(K,\alpha).$

We use the convention that $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \emptyset = -\infty$. Observe that φ is a bi-Lipschitz invariant.

Let $\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ denote the family of compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^d , equipped with the Hausdorff distance $d_{\mathcal{H}}$. We recall that B(x,r) denotes the closed ball at x with radius r, and we let $B^{\circ}(x,r)$ denote the open ball at x with radius r. Given a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, we let $N_r^{\circ}(K)$ denote the minimal number of open sets with diameter r required to cover K, and $N_r^{\text{pack}}(K)$ denote the size of a maximal centred packing of *K* by closed balls with radius *r*. Then, for $0 < r_1 \le r_2$, we write

$$\mathcal{N}_{r_1, r_2}^{\circ}(K, x) = N_{r_1}^{\circ}(B(x, r_2) \cap K)$$
$$\mathcal{N}_{r_1, r_2}(K, x) = N_{r_1}^{\text{pack}}(B^{\circ}(x, r_2) \cap K)$$

The following lemma is standard.

Lemma 2.3. *Fix* $0 < r_1 \le r_2$ *. Then:*

- (i) $\mathcal{N}_{r_1,r_2}^{\circ} \colon \mathcal{K}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^{\overline{d}} \to [0,d]$ is lower semicontinuous.
- (ii) $\mathcal{N}_{r_1,r_2}: \mathcal{K}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \to [0,d]$ is upper semicontinuous.

We can use this lemma to establish the following fundamental measurability results.

Proposition 2.4. *The following measurability properties hold:*

- (i) The function $(K, x) \mapsto \dim_A(K, x)$ is Baire class 2.
- (ii) $\mathcal{A}(K, \alpha)$ is Borel for any compact set K.

Proof. Since \mathbb{R}^d is doubling,

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K,x) = \inf \left\{ s : \exists C > 0 \, \exists M \in \mathbb{N} \, \forall M \le k \le n \\ \mathcal{N}_{2^{-n},2^{-k}}(K,x) \le C2^{(n-k)s} \right\}$$

Equivalently, we may use $\mathcal{N}_{r_1,r_2}^{\circ}$ in place of \mathcal{N}_{r_1,r_2} . In particular,

$$\{(K,x) : \dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K,x) > s\} = \bigcap_{C=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{M=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{k=M}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} (\mathcal{N}_{2^{-n},2^{-k}}^{\circ})^{-1} (C2^{(n-k)s},\infty).$$

and

$$\{(K,x) : \dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K,x) < t\} = \bigcup_{C \in \mathbb{Q} \cap (0,\infty)} \bigcup_{M=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{k=M}^{\infty} \bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} (\mathcal{N}_{2^{-n},2^{-k}})^{-1} (-\infty, C2^{(n-k)t}).$$

Thus $\{(K, x) : \dim_A(K, x) \in (s, t)\}$ is a $G_{\delta\sigma}$ -set, i.e. it is a countable union of sets expressible as a countable intersection of open sets, so dim_A is Baire class 2.

Of course, the same argument also show that $x \mapsto \dim_A(K, x)$ is Baire class 2 for a fixed compact set K, so that $\mathcal{A}(K, \alpha)$ is $G_{\delta\sigma}$ and, in particular, Borel.

2.3. Tangents and pointwise dimensions of general sets. We now establish some general results on the existence of tangents for general sets. These results will also play an important technical role in the following sections: for many of our applications, it is not enough to have positive Hausdorff α -measure for $\alpha = \dim_A K$, since in general Hausdorff α -measure does not interact well with the Hausdorff metric on $\mathcal{K}(B(0, 1))$.

Recall that the *Hausdorff* α -content of a set *E* is given by

$$\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(E) = \inf \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (\operatorname{diam} U_i)^{\alpha} : E \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} U_i, U_i \text{ open} \right\}$$

Of course, $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(E) \leq \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(E)$ and $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(E) = 0$ if and only if $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(E) = 0$. We recall (see, e.g. [MM97, Theorem 2.1]) that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}$ is upper semicontinuous on $\mathcal{K}(B(0,1))$. Moreover, if $0 < \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(E) < \infty$, then the density theorem for Hausdorff content implies that \mathcal{H}^{α} -almost every $x \in E$ has a tangent with uniformly large Hausdorff α -content. We use these ideas in the following proofs.

We begin with a straightforward preliminary lemma which is proven, for example, in [KR16, Lemma 3.11].

Lemma 2.5. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be compact. Then $\operatorname{Tan}(\operatorname{Tan}(K)) \subset \operatorname{Tan}(K)$.

Proof. First suppose $E \in Tan(K)$ and $F \in Tan(E)$. Write $E = \lim_{n\to\infty} T_n(K) \cap B(0,1)$ and $F = \lim_{n\to\infty} S_n(E) \cap B(0,1)$ for some sequences of similarities (T_n) and (S_n) with similarity ratios diverging to infinity. For each $\epsilon > 0$, let N be sufficiently large so that

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(S_N(E) \cap B(0,1),F) \le \frac{\epsilon}{2}$$

Suppose S_N has similarity ratio λ_N , and let M be sufficiently large so that

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(T_M(K) \cap B(0,1), E) \le \frac{\epsilon}{2\lambda_N}$$

It follows that

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(S_N \circ T_M(K) \cap B(0,1), F) \le \epsilon.$$

But $\epsilon > 0$ was arbitrary, as required.

Now, given a set with positive and finite Hausdorff measure, we can always find a tangent with large Hausdorff content.

Lemma 2.6. Let $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ be a compact set with $0 < \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(K) < \infty$. Then for \mathcal{H}^{α} -almost every $x \in K$, there is an $F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)$ such that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \geq 1$.

Proof. By the same proof as [Mat95, Theorem 6.2], for \mathcal{H}^{α} -almost every $x \in K$, there is a sequence of scales $(r_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ converging to zero such that

$$1 \le \lim_{n \to \infty} r_n^{-\alpha} \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty} \big(B(x, r_n) \cap K \big).$$

Then

$$\mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{\alpha} \left(r_n^{-1} (K - x) \cap B(0, 1) \right) = r_n^{-\alpha} \mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{\alpha} \left(B(x, r_n) \cap K \right) \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 1.$$

But Hausdorff α -content is upper semicontinuous, so passing to a subsequence if necessary,

$$F = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(r_n^{-1} (K - x) \cap B(0, 1) \right)$$

satisfies $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \geq 1$.

Of course, we can combine the previous two results to obtain the following improvement of Proposition 2.1.

Corollary 2.7. Let K be a compact set with dim_A $K = \alpha$. Then there is a weak tangent $F \in Tan(K)$ with $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \geq 1$.

Proof. By Proposition 2.1, there is $E \in \text{Tan}(K)$ such that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(E) > 0$. By [Fal90, Theorem 4.10], there is a compact $E' \subset E$ such that $0 < \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(E') < \infty$. Then by Lemma 2.6, there is $F' \in \text{Tan}(E')$ with $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F') \ge 1$. But $F' \subset F$ for some $F \in \text{Tan}(E)$, and by Lemma 2.5, $F \in \text{Tan}(K)$ with $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \ge \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F') \ge 1$. \Box

13

We now establish bounds on the pointwise Assouad dimension and tangents for general sets.

Proposition 2.8. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. Then:

- (i) If K is analytic, for any s such that $\mathcal{H}^{s}(K) > 0$, there is a compact set $E \subset K$ with $\mathcal{H}^{s}(E) > 0$ so that for each $x \in E$, there is a tangent $F \in \operatorname{Tan}(\overline{K}, x)$ with $\mathcal{H}^{s}_{\infty}(F) \geq 1$.
- (ii) If K is compact, there is an $x \in K$ such that $\dim_A(K, x) \ge \overline{\dim}_B K$.

Proof. The proof of (i) follows directly from Lemma 2.6, recalling that we can always find a compact subset $E \subset K$ such that $0 < \mathcal{H}^s(E) < \infty$ (combine [Mat95, Theorem 8.19] and [BP17, Corollary B.2.4]).

We now see (ii). Let $\overline{\dim}_{B} K = t$. We first observe that for any r > 0, there is an $x \in K$ so that $\overline{\dim}_{B} B(x, r) \cap K = t$. In particular, we may inductively construct a nested sequence of balls $B(x_k, r_k)$ with $\lim_{k\to\infty} r_k = 0$ so that $\overline{\dim}_{B} K \cap B(x_k, r_k) = t$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Since K is compact, take $x = \lim_{k\to\infty} x_k \in K$. We verify that $\dim_{A}(K, x) \ge t$. Let C > 0 and $\rho > 0$ be arbitrary. Since the x_k converge to x and the r_k converge to 0, get some k so that $B(x_k, r_k) \subset B(x, \rho)$. Thus for any $\epsilon > 0$ and r > 0 sufficiently small depending on ϵ ,

$$N_r(B(x,\rho)\cap K) \ge N_r(B(x_k,r_k)\cap K) \ge C\left(\frac{r_k}{r}\right)^{t-\epsilon}.$$

Thus $\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) \ge t$.

Remark 2.9. Note that compactness is essential in Proposition 2.8 (ii) since there are sets with $\overline{\dim}_{\mathrm{B}} K = 1$ but every point is isolated: consider, for instance, the set $E = \{(\log n)^{-1} : n = 2, 3, ...\}$. In this case, $\overline{E} = E \cup \{0\}$ and $\dim_{\mathrm{A}}(\overline{E}, 0) = 1$. This example also shows that (ii) can hold with exactly 1 point.

Finally, we construct some general examples which go some way to showing that the results for general sets given in this section are sharp.

Example 2.10. In general, the Assouad dimension can only be characterized by weak tangents rather than by tangents. For example, consider the set *K* from [LR15, Example 2.20], defined by

$$K = \{0\} \cup \{2^{-k} + \ell 4^{-k} : k \in \mathbb{N}, \ell \in \{0, 1, \dots, k\}\}$$

Since *K* contains arithmetic progressions of length *k* for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, dim_A K = 1. However, dim_A(K, x) = 0 for all $x \in K$ and, therefore, by Proposition 2.2, dim_H F = 0 for all $F \in Tan(K, x)$ and $x \in K$.

Example 2.11. We give an example of a compact set *K* and a point $x \in K$ so that $\dim_A(K, x) = 1$ but each $F \in Tan(K, x)$ consists of at most finitely many points.

Set $a_k = 4^{-k^2}$ and observe that $ka_{k+1}/a_k \leq 1/k$. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, write $\ell_k = \lfloor 2^k/k \rfloor$ and set

$$K = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \left\{ a_k \frac{2^k - \ell_k}{2^k}, a_k \frac{2^k - \ell_k - 1}{2^k}, \dots, a_k \right\}$$

and consider the point x = 0. First observe for all $\epsilon > 0$ and all k sufficiently small depending on ϵ ,

$$N_{2^{-k} \cdot a_k} \left(B(0, a_k) \cap K \right) \ge \frac{\ell_k}{2} \ge 2^{(1-\epsilon)k}$$

which gives that $\dim_A(K, 0) = 1$.

On the other hand, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$a_k^{-1}K \cap B(0,1) \subset [0, a_{k+1}/a_k] \cup [1/k, 1].$$

Since $ka_{k+1}/a_k \leq 1/k$, it follows that for any $\lambda \geq 1$ and $\lambda K \cap B(0,1)$ can be contained in a union of two intervals with arbitrarily small length as λ diverges to ∞ . Thus any tangent $F \in Tan(K,0)$ consists of at most 2 points.

2.4. Tangents of dynamically invariant sets. We recall from Proposition 2.8 (ii) that the Assouad dimension of *K* need not be attained as the Assouad dimension of a point, and even the Assouad dimension at a point need not be attained as the upper box dimension of a tangent at that point.

Now recall the definition of self-embeddability from Definition 1.1. For selfembeddable sets, we can prove directly that the Assouad dimension of K is attained as the Hausdorff dimension of a tangent. In fact, the tangent can be chosen to have positive \mathcal{H}^{α} -measure for $\alpha = \dim_A K$.

Theorem 2.12. Let $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ be compact and self-embeddable with $\alpha = \dim_A K$. Then there is a dense set of points $x \in K$ for which there exist $F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)$ such that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \gtrsim_{\alpha} 1$.

Proof. By self-embeddability and since $\dim_A(K, x) = \dim_A(f(K), f(x))$ for a bi-Lipschitz map f, it suffices to construct a single point x with this property.

First, begin with some arbitrary ball $B(x_1, r_1)$ with $x_1 \in K$ and $0 < r_1 \leq 1$. Since K is self-embeddable, get a bi-Lipschitz map $f_1 \colon K \to K \cap B(x_1, r_1)$. Since $\dim_A f_1(K) = \alpha$, by Corollary 2.7 there is a weak tangent F_1 of $f_1(K)$ such that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F_1) \geq 1$. Since F_1 is a weak tangent of $f_1(K)$, there is a similarity T_1 with similarity ratio $\lambda_1 \geq 1$ such that $0 \in T_1(K)$ and

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(T_1(f_1(K))) \cap B(0,1), F_1) \le 1.$$

Then choose $x_2 \in K$ and $r_2 \leq 1/2$ so that $B(x_2, r_2) \subset T_1^{-1}B^{\circ}(0, 1)$.

Repeating the above construction, next with the ball $B(x_2, r_2)$, and iterating, we obtain a sequence of similarity maps $(T_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ each with similarity ratio $\lambda_n \ge n$, bi-Lipschitz maps f_n , and compact sets F_n such that

1.
$$T_{n+1}^{-1}B(0,1) \subseteq T_n^{-1}B(0,1)$$
,

2.
$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(T_n(f_n(K))) \cap B(0,1), F_n) \leq \frac{1}{n}$$
, and

3. $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F_n) \geq 1.$

Let $x = \lim_{n\to\infty} T_n^{-1}(0)$ and note by 1 that $x \in T_n^{-1}B(0,1)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let h_n be a similarity with similarity ratio 1/2 such that

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\frac{\lambda_n}{2}(f_n(K) - x) \cap B(0, 1), h_n(F_n)\right) \le \frac{1}{n}.$$

Observe that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(h_n(F_n)) \geq 2^{-\alpha}$. Thus passing to a subsequence if necessary, since $f_n(K) \subseteq K$, we may set

$$F_0 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\lambda_n}{2} (f_n(K) - x) \cap B(0, 1) \quad \text{and} \quad F = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\lambda_n}{2} (K - x) \cap B(0, 1).$$

and observe that $F_0 \subseteq F$. Again passing to a subsequence if necessary, by compactness of the orthogonal group, 2 and the triangle inequality, there is an isometry h so that $\lim_{n\to\infty} h \circ h_n(F_n) = F_0$. Thus by upper semicontinuity of Hausdorff content,

$$\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \ge \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F_0) \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(h \circ h_n(F_n)) = 2^{-\alpha}$$

as required.

We recall from Proposition 2.8 (ii) that, for a general compact set K, the upper box dimension of K provides a lower bound for the pointwise Assouad dimension at *some* point. For self-embeddable sets, we observe that the upper box dimension provides a uniform lower bound for the pointwise Assouad dimension at *every* point. On the other hand, the upper box dimension *does not* lower bound the maximal dimension of a tangent. For an example of this phenomenon, see Theorem 4.12.

Proposition 2.13. Let $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ be self-embeddable. Then for any $x \in K$, we have $\dim_A(K, x) \ge \overline{\dim}_B K$.

Proof. Fix $\alpha < \overline{\dim}_{B} K$ and $x \in K$. Let C > 0 and $\rho > 0$ be arbitrary. Since K is self-embeddable, there is some bi-Lipschitz map $f: K \to B(x, \rho)$ so that $f(K) \subseteq K$. Since $\overline{\dim}_{B} f(K) > \alpha$, there is some $0 < r \leq \rho$ so that

$$N_r(B(x,\rho)\cap K) \ge N_r(f(K)) \ge C\left(\frac{\rho}{r}\right)^{\alpha}.$$

Since C > 0 and $\rho > 0$ were arbitrary, $\dim_A(K, x) \ge \alpha$, as required.

Now assuming uniform self-embeddability, we will see that the set of points with tangents that have positive \mathcal{H}^{α} -measure has full Hausdorff dimension for $\alpha = \dim_A K$. Since uniformly self-embeddable sets satisfy the hypotheses of [Fal89, Theorem 4], it always holds that $\overline{\dim}_B K = \dim_H K$ (see also [Fra14, Theorem 2.10]). On the other hand, it can happen in this class of sets that $\overline{\dim}_B K < \alpha$: for example, this is the situation for self-similar sets in \mathbb{R} with $\overline{\dim}_B K < 1$ which fail the weak separation condition; see [FHO+15, Theorem 1.3]. We provide a subset of full Hausdorff dimension for which each point has a tangent with positive Hausdorff α -measure.

The idea of the proof is essentially as follows. Let *F* be a weak tangent for *K* with strictly positive Hausdorff α -content. For each $s < \overline{\dim}_{B} K$, using the implicit method of [Fal89, Theorem 4], we can construct a well-distributed set of *N* balls at resolution δ , where $\delta^{-s} \ll N$. Then, inside each ball, using uniform self-embeddability, we can map an image of an approximate tangent $T_{\delta}^{-1}(B(0,1)) \cap K \approx$

F where T_{δ} has similarity ratio λ . Choosing *N* to be large, the resulting collection of images of the approximate tangent *F* is again a family of well-distributed balls at resolution $\lambda^{-1}\delta$, with $(\lambda^{-1}\delta)^{-s} \approx N$. Repeating this construction along a sequence of tangents converging to *F* yields a set *E* with dim_H $E \geq s$ such that each $x \in E$ has a tangent which is an image of *F* (up to some negligible distortion), which has positive Hausdorff α -content by upper semicontinuity of content.

We fix a compact set K. To simplify notation, we say that a function $f : K \to K$ is in $\mathcal{G}(z, r, c)$ for $z \in K$ and c, r > 0 if $f(K) \subset B(z, r)$ and

$$cr|x-y| \le |f(x) - f(y)| \le c^{-1}r|x-y|$$

for all $x, y \in K$.

Theorem 2.14. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be uniformly self-embeddable and let $\alpha = \dim_A K$. Then

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{ x \in K : \exists F \in \mathrm{Tan}(K, x) \text{ with } \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \gtrsim 1 \} = \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K = \overline{\dim}_{\mathrm{B}} K.$$

Proof. Write $\alpha = \dim_A K$. If $\overline{\dim}_B K = 0$ we are done; otherwise, let $0 < s < \overline{\dim}_B K$ be arbitrary. Since K is uniformly self-embeddable, there is a constant $a \in (0, 1)$ so that for each $z \in K$ and $0 < r \le \dim K$ there is a map $f \in \mathcal{G}(z, r, a)$. Next, from Corollary 2.7, there is a compact set $F \subset B(0, 1)$ with $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \ge 1$ and a sequence of similarities $(T_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ with similarity ratios $(\lambda_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ such that

$$F = \lim_{k \to \infty} T_k(K) \cap B(0,1)$$

with respect to the Hausdorff metric. Set $Q_k = T_k^{-1}(B(0,1)) \cap K$. We will construct a Cantor set $E \subset K$ of points each of which has pointwise Assouad dimension at least α and has $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} E \geq s$.

We begin with a preliminary construction. First, since $s < \overline{\dim}_{B} K$, there is some $r_0 > 0$ and a collection of points $\{y_i\}_{i=1}^{N_0} \subset K$ such that $|y_i - y_j| > 3r_0$ for all $i \neq j$ and $N_0 \ge 2^s a^{-s} r_0^{-s}$. Now for each *i*, take a map $\phi_i \in \mathcal{G}(y_i, r_0, a)$. Write $\mathcal{I} = \{1, \ldots, N_0\}$, and for $i = (i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \mathcal{I}^n$ set

$$\phi_{\mathbf{i}} = \phi_{i_1} \circ \cdots \circ \phi_{i_n}$$

and, having fixed some $x_0 \in K$, write $x_i = \phi_i(x_0) \in \phi_i(K)$. Observe that if the maximal length of a common prefix of i and j is m, then

$$\operatorname{dist}(\phi_{\mathbf{i}}(K),\phi_{\mathbf{j}}(K)) \ge r_0(ar_0)^m.$$

We now begin our inductive construction. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\lambda_n \ge 12$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $r_0 \le 1$. First, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, define constants $(m_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \{0\} \cup \mathbb{N}$ and $(\rho_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ converging monotonically to zero from above by the rules

1.
$$2^{-m_n} \leq \frac{a^2 r_0 \lambda_n^{-1}}{3}$$
,
2. $\rho_0 = \operatorname{diam} K$, and
3. $\rho_n \coloneqq \rho_{n-1} \cdot \frac{a \lambda_n^{-1} \cdot (ar_0)^{m_n}}{3}$

Next, for $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ we inductively choose points $y_{n,i} \in K$ and maps $\Psi_{n,i} \in \mathcal{G}(y_{n,i}, \rho_n, a)$ for $i \in \mathcal{I}^{m_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{I}^{m_n}$. Let \emptyset denote the empty word and let $y_{0,\emptyset} \in K$ be arbitrary and let $\Psi_{0,\emptyset}$ denote the identity map. Then for each k = ij with $i \in \mathcal{I}^{m_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{I}^{m_{n-1}}$ and $j \in \mathcal{I}^{m_n}$, sequentially choose:

- 4. $\psi_{n,\mathbf{k}} \in \mathcal{G}(\Psi_{n-1,\mathbf{i}}(x_{\mathbf{j}}), \rho_n \lambda_n a^{-1}, a)$ 5. $y_{n,\mathbf{k}} = \psi_{n,\mathbf{k}} \circ T_n^{-1}(0)$
- 6. $\Psi_{n,\mathbf{k}} \in \mathcal{G}(y_{n,\mathbf{k}},\rho_n,a)$

Finally, write $\mathcal{J}_0 = \{ \varnothing \}$, $\mathcal{J}_n = \mathcal{I}^{m_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{I}^{m_n}$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let

$$E_n = \bigcup_{\mathbf{i} \in \mathcal{J}_n} B(y_{n,\mathbf{ij}}, 3\rho_n)$$
 and $E = K \cap \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n$

Suppose $i \in \mathcal{J}_{n-1}$ and $j \in \mathcal{I}^{m_n}$. Since $x_j \in K$, $\Psi_{n-1,i}(K) \subset B(y_{n-1,i}, \rho_{n-1})$, and $y_{n,ij} \in \psi_{n,ij}(K) \subset B(\Psi_{n-1,i}(x_j), \rho_{n-1})$, we conclude since $\rho_{n-1} \ge 3\rho_n$ that

$$B(y_{n,ij}, 3\rho_n) \subset B(y_{n-1,i}, 3\rho_{n-1}).$$

Moreover, $y_{n,ij} \in K$, so the sets E_n are non-empty nested compact sets and therefore E is non-empty.

We next observe the following fundamental separation properties of the balls in the construction of the sets E_n . Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and suppose $j_1 \neq j_2$ in \mathcal{I}^{m_n} and $i \in \mathcal{J}_{n-1}$ (writing $\mathcal{J}_0 = \{\emptyset\}$). Suppose j_1 and j_2 have a common prefix of maximal length m. First recall that $|x_{j_1} - x_{j_2}| \geq r_0(ar_0)^m$, so that

$$|\Psi_{n-1,\mathbf{i}}(x_{\mathbf{j}_1}) - \Psi_{n-1,\mathbf{i}}(x_{\mathbf{j}_2})| \ge \rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m+1}$$

Then, since for j = 1, 2

$$y_{n,\mathbf{ij}_j} \in \psi_{n,\mathbf{ij}_j}(K) \subset B\Big(\Psi_{n-1,\mathbf{i}}(x_{\mathbf{j}_j}), \frac{\rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m_n}}{3}\Big)$$

we observe that

$$|y_{n,\mathbf{ij}_1} - y_{n,\mathbf{ij}_2}| \ge \rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m+1} - 2\frac{\rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m_n}}{3} \ge \frac{\rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m+1}}{3}$$

Since we assumed that $\lambda_n \geq 12$, by the triangle inequality

(2.1) dist
$$(B(y_{n,ij_1}, 3\rho_n), B(y_{n,ij_2}, 3\rho_n)) \ge \frac{\rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m+1}}{3} - 6\rho_n \ge \frac{\rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m+1}}{6}.$$

We first show that $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} E \geq s$. By the method of repeated subdivision, define a Borel probability measure μ with $\operatorname{supp} \mu = E$ and for $i \in \mathcal{J}_n$,

$$\mu(B(y_{n,\mathbf{i}}, 3\rho_n) \cap K) = \frac{1}{\#\mathcal{J}_n}.$$

Now suppose U is an arbitrary open set with $U \cap E \neq \emptyset$. Intending to use the mass distribution principle, we estimate $\mu(U)$. Assuming that U has sufficiently small diameter, let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be maximal so that

diam
$$U \le \frac{a^{-1}\lambda_n}{2}\rho_n = \frac{\rho_{n-1}(ar_0)^{m_n}}{6}$$
.

By (2.1), there is a unique $i \in \mathcal{J}_n$ such that $U \cap B(y_{n,i}, 3\rho_n) \neq \emptyset$. We first recall by choice of the constants m_n that

$$\rho_n = (\operatorname{diam} K) \cdot \left(\frac{a^2 r_0 \lambda_n^{-1}}{3}\right)^n (ar_0)^{m_1 + \dots + m_n}$$

$$\geq (\operatorname{diam} K) 2^{-(m_1 + \dots + m_n)} (ar_0)^{m_1 + \dots + m_n}.$$

There are two cases. First assume $\rho_n/6 < \operatorname{diam} U$. Thus

$$\mu(U) \leq \frac{1}{\#\mathcal{J}_n} \leq \left(\frac{1}{2}ar_0\right)^{s(m_1+\dots+m_n)} \leq (\operatorname{diam} K)^{-s}\rho_n^s$$
$$\leq \left(\frac{6}{\operatorname{diam} K}\right)^s \cdot (\operatorname{diam} U)^s.$$

Otherwise, let $k \in \{0, \ldots, m_{n+1} - 1\}$ be so that

$$\frac{\rho_n(ar_0)^{k+1}}{6} < \operatorname{diam} U \le \frac{\rho_n(ar_0)^k}{6}$$

By (2.1), *U* intersects at most $N_0^{m_n-k}$ balls $B(y_{n+1,\omega}, 3\rho_{n+1})$ for $\omega \in \mathcal{J}_{n+1}$, so since $2^{-sk} \leq 1$,

$$\mu(U) \leq \frac{1}{\#\mathcal{J}_n \cdot N_0^k} \leq (\operatorname{diam} K)^{-s} \rho_n^s \cdot (2^{-s} (ar_0)^s)^k$$
$$\leq \left(\frac{6}{ar_0 \operatorname{diam} K}\right)^s \cdot \left(\frac{\rho_n (ar_0)^{k+1}}{6}\right)^s$$
$$\leq \left(\frac{6}{ar_0 \operatorname{diam} K}\right)^s \cdot (\operatorname{diam} U)^s.$$

This treats all possible small values of diam U, so there is a constant M > 0 such that $\mu(U) \leq M(\operatorname{diam} U)^s$. Thus $\operatorname{dim}_{\mathrm{H}} E \geq s$ by the mass distribution principle.

Now fix

$$C = (3 + a^{-2})^{-\alpha}.$$

We will show that each $z \in E$ has a tangent with Hausdorff α -content at least C. Let $z \in E$ and define

$$S_n(x) = \frac{x-z}{\rho_n(3+a^{-2})}.$$

Our tangent will be an accumulation point of the sequence $(S_n(K) \cap B(0,1))_{n=1}^{\infty}$. Now fix $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $z \in E$, there is some $\omega \in \mathcal{J}_n$ so that $z \in B(y_{n,\omega}, 3\rho_n)$. By choice of $y_{n,\omega}, Q_n = B(\psi_{n,\omega}^{-1}(y_{n,\omega}), \lambda_n^{-1}) \cap K$ so that

$$\psi_{n,\omega}(Q_n) \subseteq B(y_{n,\omega},\rho_n a^{-2}) \cap K \subseteq B(z,\rho_n(3+a^{-2})) \cap K$$

and therefore, writing $\Phi_n = S_n \circ \psi_{n,\omega} \circ T_n^{-1}$,

$$\Phi_n(T_n(K) \cap B(0,1)) \subset S_n(K) \cap B(0,1).$$

Then for $x, y \in T_n(K) \cap B(0, 1)$, by the choice of ψ in (4),

(2.2)
$$\frac{|x-y|}{3+a^{-2}} \le |\Phi_n(x) - \Phi_n(y)| \le \frac{|x-y|}{a^2(3+a^{-2})}.$$

Now, passing to a subsequence $(n_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$, we can ensure that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{n_k}(F) = Z_0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{k \to \infty} S_{n_k}(K) \cap B(0, 1) = Z.$$

Moreover, recall that $\lim_{k\to\infty} T_{n_k}(K) \cap B(0,1) = F$ and $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(F) \geq 1$. Observe by (2.2) that $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(\Phi_{n_k}(F)) \geq C$ for each k, so by upper semicontinuity of Hausdorff content, $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(Z_0) \geq C$. But again by (2.2),

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}(Z_0, \Phi_{n_k}(T_{n_k}(K) \cap B(0, 1))) \le d_{\mathcal{H}}(Z_0, \Phi_{n_k}(F)) + \frac{d_{\mathcal{H}}(F, T_{n_k}(K) \cap B(0, 1))}{a^2(3 + a^{-2})}$$

so in fact $Z_0 \subset Z$ and $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{\infty}(Z) \geq C$, as claimed.

Remark 2.15. We note that the upper distortion bound in the definition of uniform self-embeddability is used only at the very last step to guarantee that the images $\Phi_{n_k}(T_{n_k}(K) \cap B(0,1))$ converge to a large set whenever the $T_{n_k}(K) \cap B(0,1)$ converge to a large set.

3. Assouad dimension of non-autonomous self-similar sets

In this section, we determine a convenient formula for the Assouad dimension of certain non-autonomous self-similar sets. Beyond being of general interest, this formula will also play a critical role in §4.

3.1. Non-autonomous self-similar sets. The notion of a non-autonomous selfconformal set was introduced and studied in [RU16], where under certain regularity assumptions the authors prove that the Hausdorff and box dimensions are equal and given by the zero of a certain pressure function. In this section, we consider a special case of their construction. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let \mathcal{J}_n be a finite index set and let $\Phi_n = \{S_{n,j}\}_{j \in \mathcal{J}_n}$ be a family of similarity maps $S_{n,j} \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ of the form

$$S_{n,j}(\boldsymbol{x}) = r_{n,j}O_{n,j}\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{d}_{n,j}$$

where $r_{n,j} \in (0,1)$ and $O_{n,j}$ is an orthogonal matrix. To avoid degenerate situations, we assume that associated with the sequence $(\Phi_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ there is an invariant compact set $X \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ (that is $S_{n,j}(X) \subset X$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $j \in \mathcal{J}_n$) and moreover that

(3.1)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup\{r_{1,j_1} \cdots r_{n,j_n} : j_i \in \mathcal{J}_i \text{ for each } i = 1, \dots, n\} = 0.$$

Under these assumptions, associated with the sequence $(\Phi_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an *attractor*

$$K = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{(j_1,\dots,j_n) \in \mathcal{J}_1 \times \dots \times \mathcal{J}_n} S_{1,j_1} \circ \dots \circ S_{n,j_n}(X).$$

Since X is compact and invariant under any map $S_{n,j}$ with $j \in \mathcal{J}_n$, finiteness of each \mathcal{J}_n implies that K is the intersection of a nested sequence of compact sets and therefore non-empty and compact. The sequence $(\Phi_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is called a *non-autonomous iterated function system (IFS)* and the attractor K is called the *non-autonomous self-similar set*. We refer the reader to [RU16, §2] for more detail on this construction in a general setting.

Definition 3.1. We say that the non-autonomous IFS $(\Phi_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$

- (i) satisfies the *open set condition* if the invariant compact set X can be chosen to have non-empty interior $U = X^{\circ}$ so that for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $j, j' \in \mathcal{J}_n$, $S_{n,j}(U) \subset U$ and $S_{n,j}(U) \cap S_{n,j'}(U) = \emptyset$ for $j \neq j' \in \mathcal{J}_n$; and
- (ii) has uniformly bounded contractions if there is an $r_{\min} > 0$ so that $r_{\min} \leq r_{n,j}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $j \in \mathcal{J}_n$.

Since $\operatorname{Leb}\left(\sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}_n} S_{n,j}(U)\right) \leq \operatorname{Leb}(U)$ and $\operatorname{Leb}(S_{n,j}(U)) \geq r_{\min}^d > 0$, the above two conditions combine to give the following additional condition:

(iii) There is an $M \in \mathbb{N}$ so that $\#\mathcal{J}_n \leq M$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Our main goal in this section is, assuming the open set condition and uniformly bounded contractions, to establish an explicit formula for dim_A K, depending only on the $r_{n,j}$. This will be done in Theorem 3.7. In order to obtain this result, we first make a reduction to a symbolic representation of the attractor K, which we will denote by Δ . Since this symbolic construction will later be required in §4, we establish this concept in a somewhat more general context.

3.2. Metric trees. First, fix a reference set Ω and write $\mathcal{T}_0 = {\Omega}$. Let ${\mathcal{T}_k}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of partitions of Ω so that \mathcal{T}_{k+1} is a refinement of the partition \mathcal{T}_k . For each $Q \in \mathcal{T}_k$ with $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there is a unique *parent* $\widehat{Q} \in \mathcal{T}_{k-1}$ with $Q \subset \widehat{Q}$. Suppose that for any $\gamma_1 \neq \gamma_2 \in \Omega$ there is a $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that there are $Q_1 \neq Q_2 \in \mathcal{T}_k$ so that $\gamma_1 \in Q_1$ and $\gamma_2 \in Q_2$. We call such a family ${\mathcal{T}_k}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ a *tree*, and write $\mathcal{T} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{T}_k$.

Now, suppose that there is a function $\rho: \mathcal{T} \to (0, \infty)$ which satisfies

- 1. $0 < \rho(Q) < \rho(Q)$, and
- 2. there is a sequence $(r_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ converging to zero from above such that $\rho(Q) \leq r_k$ for all $Q \in \mathcal{T}_k$.

The function ρ induces a metric *d* on the space Ω by the rule

$$d(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = \inf \{ \rho(Q) : Q \in \mathcal{T} \text{ and } \{ \gamma_1, \gamma_2 \} \subset Q \}.$$

In particular, diam(Q) = $\rho(Q)$ with respect to the metric d. We then refer to the data $(\Omega, \{\mathcal{T}_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}, \rho)$ as a *metric tree*.

We say that a subset $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{T}$ is a *section* if $Q_1 \cap Q_2 = \emptyset$ whenever $Q_1, Q_2 \in \mathcal{A}$ with $Q_1 \neq Q_2$. If $\bigcup_{Q \in \mathcal{A}} Q = Q_0$, we say that \mathcal{A} is a *section relative to* Q_0 , and we say that a section is *complete* if it is a section relative to Ω . Note that sections are necessarily countable and, for example, each \mathcal{T}_k for $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ is a section relative to Ω . The set of sections is equipped with a partial order $\mathcal{A}_1 \preccurlyeq \mathcal{A}_2$ if for all $Q_1 \in \mathcal{A}_1$ there is a $Q_2 \in \mathcal{A}_2$ such that $Q_2 \subset Q_1$. In this situation, we say that \mathcal{A}_1 is *refined* by \mathcal{A}_2 . This partial order is equipped with a *meet*: that is, given a finite family of sections $\mathcal{A}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_n$, there is a unique section $\mathcal{A}_1 \land \cdots \land \mathcal{A}_n$ which is maximal with respect to the partial order such that

$$\mathcal{A}_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathcal{A}_n \preccurlyeq \mathcal{A}_i$$

for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

A metric tree is equipped with a natural family of sections relative to Ω which respect the geometry of the metric *d*. We define

$$\mathcal{T}(r) = \{ Q \in \mathcal{T} : \rho(Q) \le r < \rho(\widehat{Q}) \}$$

where, abusing notation, we write $\rho(\widehat{\Omega}) = \infty$. Property 1 above ensures that this is indeed a section and property 2 ensures that $\mathcal{T}_k \preccurlyeq \mathcal{T}(r)$ for all *k* sufficiently large.

3.3. Reduction to symbolic representation. Now that we have defined the metric tree, we introduce a symbolic representation of the set *K*. Let $\Delta = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{J}_n$. For $(j_1, \ldots, j_n) \in \mathcal{J}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{J}_n$, we denote the *cylinder*

$$[j_1,\ldots,j_n] = \{j_1\} \times \cdots \times \{j_n\} \times \prod_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \mathcal{J}_k.$$

We associate with this cylinder the valuation $\rho([j_1, \ldots, j_n]) = r_{1,j_1} \cdots r_{n,j_n}$. Let \mathcal{T}_n denote the set of all cylinders corresponding to finite sequences in $\mathcal{J}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{J}_n$. It is clear that this sequence of partitions, equipped with the valuation ρ (recalling the non-degeneracy assumption (3.1)), induces the structure of a metric tree on Δ . We also define a natural projection $\pi \colon \Delta \to K$ by

$$\{\pi((j_n)_{n=1}^\infty)\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^\infty S_{1,j_1} \circ \cdots \circ S_{n,j_n}(X).$$

Again, this map is well-defined by (3.1). A direct argument shows that π is Lipschitz.

We now prove that $\dim_A K = \dim_A \Delta$. The open set condition ensures that the only work in this result is to handle the mild overlaps which occur from adjacent rectangles. In fact, our result will follow from the following standard elementary lemma for metric spaces which are "almost bi-Lipschitz equivalent".

Lemma 3.2. Let (X, d_1) and (Y, d_2) be non-empty bounded metric spaces and suppose there is a function $f: X \to Y$ and constants $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and c > 0 so that for all 0 < r < 1, (i) diam $(f(B(x, r))) \leq cr$ for all $x \in X$; and

(ii) for every $y \in Y$ there are $x_1, \ldots, x_M \in X$ such that $B(y, r) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^M f(B(x_i, r))$. Then $\dim_A X = \dim_A Y$. *Proof.* Without loss of generality, we may assume that $c \ge 1$. Throughout the proof, let $\epsilon > 0$ and $0 < r \le R < 1$ be arbitrary. First, let $x \in X$ be arbitrary and, writing, $N = N_r(f(B(x, R)))$, get $y_1, \ldots, y_N \in Y$ so that $f(B(x, R)) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^N B(y_i, r)$. Since diam $f(B(x, R)) \le cR$,

$$N \lesssim_{\epsilon} \left(\frac{cR}{r}\right)^{\dim_{A} Y + \epsilon} \lesssim \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\dim_{A} Y + \epsilon}$$

Moreover, for each i = 1, ..., N, there are $x_{i,1}, ..., x_{i,M} \in X$ such that $B(y_i, r) \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{M} f(B(x_{i,j}, r))$. Thus since $\{B(x_{i,j}, r) : i = 1, ..., N \text{ and } j = 1, ..., M\}$ is a cover for B(x, R),

$$N_r(B(x,R)) \le NM \lesssim_{\epsilon} \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\dim_A Y + \epsilon}$$

Since $\epsilon > 0$ and $0 < r \le R < 1$ are arbitrary, we see that $\dim_A X \le \dim_A Y$.

Conversely, let $y \in Y$ be arbitrary and get $x_1, \ldots, x_M \in X$ such that $B(y, R) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^M f(B(x_i, R))$. Moreover, for each $i = 1, \ldots, M$, writing $N_i = N_{c^{-1}r}(B(x_i, R))$, there are $x_{i,1}, \ldots, x_{i,N_i}$ where $B(x_i, R) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{N_i} B(x_{i,j}, c^{-1}r)$ and

$$N_i \lesssim_{\epsilon} \left(\frac{cR}{r}\right)^{\dim_A X + \epsilon} \lesssim \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\dim_A X + \epsilon}$$

Thus since $\{f(B(x_{i,j}, c^{-1}r)) : i = 1, ..., M \text{ and } j = 1, ..., N_i\}$ is a cover for B(y, R) with diam $f(B(x_{i,j}, c^{-1}r)) \leq r$,

$$N_r(B(y,R)) \lesssim_{\epsilon} N_1 + \dots + N_M \lesssim_{\epsilon} \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\dim_A X + \epsilon}$$

Again since $\epsilon > 0$ and $0 < r \le R < 1$ are arbitrary, we get $\dim_A Y \le \dim_A X$, completing the proof.

We now obtain our result on the Assouad dimension as a direct corollary.

Corollary 3.3. Let $\{\Phi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of self-similar IFSs with associated nonautonomous self-similar set K and metric tree Δ . Suppose the IFS also satisfies the open set condition and has uniformly bounded contractions. Then dim_A $K = \dim_A \Delta$.

Proof. Let 0 < r < 1. First, recall that the map $\pi : \Delta \to K$ is Lipschitz. Moreover, if $[i_1, \ldots, i_m], [j_1, \ldots, j_\ell] \in \Delta(r)$ are distinct, then

$$S_{1,i_1} \circ \cdots \circ S_{m,i_m}(U) \cap S_{1,j_1} \circ \cdots \circ S_{\ell,j_\ell}(U) = \emptyset$$

and by the uniformly bounded contraction assumption,

Leb
$$(S_{1,i_1} \circ \cdots \circ S_{m,i_m}(U)) \approx$$
Leb $(S_{1,j_1} \circ \cdots \circ S_{\ell,j_\ell}(U)) \approx r^d$.

But for $x \in K$, $\text{Leb}(B(x, r)) \approx r^d$. Thus there is a constant $M \in \mathbb{N}$ not depending on r so that if $x \in K$ is arbitrary, there are cylinders $I_1, \ldots, I_M \in \Delta(r)$ so that $B(x, r) \subset \pi(I_1) \cup \cdots \cup \pi(I_M)$ so that each $I_j \in \Delta(r)$ and therefore diam $I_j \leq r$. Thus the conditions for Lemma 3.2 are satisfied and dim_A $K = \dim_A \Delta$. **3.4. Regularity properties of Assouad dimension.** In this section, we establish two regularity properties related to the Assouad dimension.

Lemma 3.4. Let $A = \mathbb{R}^+$ or $A = \{\kappa_0 n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ for some $\kappa_0 > 0$. Suppose $f : A \times A \rightarrow \{-\infty\} \cup \mathbb{R}$ is any function satisfying the following two assumptions:

(i) f is bounded from above.

(*ii*) For all $x, y, z \in A$,

$$f(x, y+z) \le \frac{y \cdot f(x, y) + z \cdot f(x+y, z)}{y+z}$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \beta &\coloneqq \limsup_{y \to \infty} \limsup_{x \to \infty} f(x, y) \\ &= \lim_{y \to \infty} \limsup_{x \to \infty} f(x, y) \\ &= \limsup_{y \to \infty} \sup_{x \in A} f(x, y) \\ &= \inf_{y \in A} \limsup_{x \to \infty} f(x, y). \end{split}$$

Moreover, if $B \subset A$ *is of the form* $B = \{\kappa n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ *for some* $\kappa > 0$ *, then*

$$\beta = \lim_{\substack{y \to \infty \\ y \in B}} \sup_{x \in B} f(x, y).$$

Proof. We assume that $\beta > -\infty$: the proof for $\beta = -\infty$ is similar (and substantially easier). Let $C \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $f(x, y) \leq C$ for all $(x, y) \in A \times A$. Note that applying (ii) inductively, we obtain for any $\{y_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell} \subset A$ and $y \in A$

(3.2)
$$f(y, \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} y_i) \leq \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} y_i f(y + \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} y_j, y_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} y_i}.$$

We take the empty sum to be 0.

We first show that the limit defining β exists. Write $h(y) = y \cdot \limsup_{x \to \infty} f(x, y)$. Applying (3.2),

$$h(y_1 + y_2) = (y_1 + y_2) \limsup_{x \to \infty} f(x, y_1 + y_2)$$

$$\leq (y_1 + y_2) \limsup_{x \to \infty} \frac{y_1 f(x, y_1) + y_2 f(x + y_1, y_2)}{y_1 + y_2}$$

$$\leq h(y_1) + h(y_2).$$

Therefore the function $h: A \to \mathbb{R}$ is subadditive, so the limit $\lim_{y\to\infty} h(y)/y$ exists and is equal to $\inf_{y\in A} h(y)/y$. Note that the same argument applies with a supremum in place of the limit supremum.

We next show for each $\epsilon > 0$ and all y sufficiently large depending on ϵ and all $x \in A$,

$$(3.3) f(x,y) \le \beta + 3\epsilon.$$

By the definition of β , there are y_0 and K so that for all $x \ge K$, $f(x, y_0) \le \beta + \epsilon$. Now let $y \in A$ be arbitrary and write $y = \ell y_0 + t$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ and $0 < t \le y_0$. Applying (3.2), there is some $M \in A$ (depending only on y_0 and C) so that for all $y \ge M$,

$$f(x,y) \leq \frac{y_0 \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} f(x+iy_0, y_0) + tf(x+\ell y_0, t)}{y}$$
$$\leq \frac{\ell y_0}{y} (\beta+\epsilon) + \frac{Ct}{y} \leq \beta + 2\epsilon.$$

Now let $x \in (0, K)$ and $y \ge M + K$, and set t = K - x. Again applying (3.2),

$$f(x,y) \le \frac{tf(x,t) + (y-t)f(K,y-t)}{y}$$
$$\le \frac{t}{y}C + \frac{y-t}{y}(\beta + 2\epsilon) \le \beta + 3\epsilon$$

for all *y* sufficiently large since $t \le K$. This proves (3.3).

Finally, suppose $B \subset A$ is of the form $B = \{\kappa n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ for some $\kappa > 0$. First, note that since $B \subset A$,

$$\beta \ge \lim_{\substack{y \to \infty \\ y \in B}} \sup_{x \in B} f(x, y)$$

and moreover the limit exists as proven above. Conversely, let $(x, y) \in A \times A$ be arbitrary with $y \ge 2\kappa$ and get $(x_0, y_0) \in B \times B$ and $(t_x, t_y) \in A \times A$ with $t_x, t_y \le \kappa$ such that $x = x_0 + t_x$ and $y - t_x = y_0 + t_y$. Then applying (ii) twice,

$$\begin{aligned} f(x_0, y_0) &\geq \frac{y_0 + t}{y_0} \cdot f(x, y - t_x) - \frac{t}{y_0} f(x + y_0, t) \\ &\geq f(x + t_x, y - t_x) - \frac{C\kappa}{y - 2\kappa} \\ &\geq \frac{y}{y - t_x} \cdot f(x, y) - \frac{t_x}{y - t_x} f(x, y - t_x) - \frac{C\kappa}{y - 2\kappa} \\ &\geq f(x, y) - 2\frac{C\kappa}{y - 2\kappa}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore since *C* and κ are fixed and $y_0 \ge y - 2\kappa$,

$$\limsup_{\substack{y_0 \to \infty \\ y_0 \in B}} \sup_{x \in B} f(x_0, y_0) \ge \limsup_{y \to \infty} \sup_{x \in A} f(x, y) = \beta$$

as required.

As an application, we can use this subadditivity result to obtain a nice reformulation of the Assouad dimension of an arbitrary set. Let *X* be a compact doubling metric space and for $\delta \in (0, 1)$ and $r \in (0, 1)$, write

$$\psi(r,\delta) = \sup_{x \in X} N_{r\delta} \big(B(x,r) \cap K \big)$$

and then set

$$\Psi(r,\delta) = \frac{\log \psi(r,\delta)}{\log(1/\delta)}.$$

One can think of $\Psi(r, \delta)$ is the best guess for the Assouad dimension of X at scales $0 < r\delta < \delta < 1$. This heuristic is made precise in the following result.

Corollary 3.5. Let X be a compact doubling metric space. Then

(3.4)
$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} X = \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \limsup_{r \to 0} \Psi(r, \delta) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{r \in (0, 1)} \Psi(r, \delta).$$

Proof. Since X is doubling, there is an $M \ge 0$ so that $\Psi(r, \delta) \in [0, M]$. Moreover, given $r, \delta_1, \delta_2 \in (0, 1)$, by covering balls $B(x, r\delta_1)$ by balls of radius $r\delta_1\delta_2$,

$$\psi(r, \delta_1 \delta_2) \le \psi(r, \delta_1) \psi(r \delta_1, \delta_2)$$

and therefore

$$\Psi(r, \delta_1 \delta_2) = \frac{\log \psi(r, \delta_1 \delta_2)}{\log(1/\delta_1 \delta_2)}$$

$$\leq \frac{\log \psi(r, \delta_1) + \log \psi(r\delta_1, \delta_2)}{\log(1/\delta_1 \delta_2)}$$

$$= \frac{\log(1/\delta_1)\Psi(r, \delta_1) + \log(1/\delta_2)\Psi(r\delta_1, \delta_2)}{\log(1/\delta_1) + \log(1/\delta_2)}.$$

Thus with the change of coordinate $g(x, y) = (e^{-x}, e^{-y})$, the second equality in (3.4) follows by applying Lemma 3.4 to the function $\Psi \circ g$.

To see the first equality in (3.4), it is a direct consequence of the definition of the Assouad dimension that

$$\limsup_{\delta \to 0} \limsup_{r \to 0} \Psi(r, \delta) \le \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K$$

and that there are sequences $(\delta_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ and $(r_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \delta_n = 0$ such that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{r \in (0,1)} \Psi(r,\delta) \ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} \Psi(r_n,\delta_n) \ge \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K,$$

as required.

Finally, we prove that in the definition of the Assouad dimension one may replace the exponent associated to localized coverings of balls of the same size by an exponent coming from localized packings of balls which may have different sizes. This will be useful since the natural covers appearing from the symbolic representation of K consist of cylinders which may have very non-uniform diameters when indexed by length. First, for a metric space $X, x \in X$, and $R \in (0, 1)$, denote the family of all localized centred packings by

$$pack(X, x, R) = \left\{ \{ B(x_i, r_i) \}_{i=1}^{\infty} : \begin{array}{l} 0 < r_i \le R, x_i \in X, B(x_i, r_i) \subset B(x, R), \\ B(x_i, r_i) \cap B(x_j, r_j) = \emptyset \text{ for all } i \ne j \end{array} \right\}.$$

 \square

In our proof, we will also require the Assouad dimension of a measure. Given a compact doubling metric space *X* and a Borel measure μ with supp $\mu = X$, the *Assouad dimension of* μ is given by

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} \mu = \inf \left\{ \alpha \ge 0 : \forall x \in X \,\forall 0 < r \le R < \operatorname{diam} X \\ \frac{\mu(B(x,R))}{\mu(B(x,r))} \lesssim_{\alpha} \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\alpha} \right\}$$

The main result of [VK88] (the original Russian version can be found in [VK87]) is that for a compact doubling metric space X,

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} X = \inf \{ \dim_{\mathcal{A}} \mu : \operatorname{supp} \mu = X \}.$$

In the following result, we observe that the existence of good measures provides a convenient way to control the localized disk packing exponent.

Proposition 3.6. Let X be a bounded metric space. Then

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} X = \inf \Big\{ \alpha : \forall 0 < R < 1 \,\forall x \in X \,\forall \{B(x_i, r_i)\}_{i=1}^{\infty} \in \operatorname{pack}(X, x, R) \\ \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} r_i^{\alpha} \lesssim_{\alpha} R^{\alpha} \Big\}.$$

Proof. That

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} X \leq \inf \left\{ \alpha : \forall 0 < R < 1 \,\forall x \in X \,\forall \{B(x_i, r_i)\}_{i=1}^{\infty} \in \operatorname{pack}(X, x, R) \right.$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} r_i^{\alpha} \lesssim_{\alpha} R^{\alpha} \right\}$$

is immediate by specializing to packings with $r_i = r$ for some $0 < r \le R$, using the equivalence (up to a constant factor) of covering and packing counts.

Now to show the lower bound, if *X* is not doubling, then $\dim_A X = \infty$ and the result is trivial. Otherwise, by passing to the completion (which does not change the value of the Assouad dimension) and recalling that a bounded doubling metric space is totally bounded, we may assume that *X* is also compact. Thus let $\alpha > \dim_A X$ be arbitrary. By [VK88, Theorem 1], there is a probability measure μ with $\sup \mu = X$ and $\dim_A \mu < \alpha$. Then for any 0 < R < 1, $x \in X$, and $\{B(x_i, r_i)\}_{i=1}^{\infty} \in \operatorname{pack}(X, x, R)$, by disjointness,

$$\mu(B(x,R)) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu(B(x_i,r_i)) \gtrsim \mu(B(x,R)) \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{r_i}{R}\right)^{\alpha}.$$

Therefore,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} r_i^{\alpha} \lesssim R^{\alpha}$$

which, since $\alpha > \dim_A X$ was arbitrary, yields the claimed result.

3.5. Proof of the Assouad dimension formula. We can now state and prove the desired formula for the Assouad dimension of the non-autonomous self-similar set *K*. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$ be arbitrary, and let $\theta(n, m)$ denote the unique value satisfying the equation

$$\sum_{j_1 \in \mathcal{J}_{n+1}} \cdots \sum_{j_m \in \mathcal{J}_{n+m}} \prod_{k=1}^m r_{n+k,j_k}^{\theta(n,m)} = 1.$$

Note that $\theta(n, m)$ is precisely the similarity dimension of the IFS

$$\Phi_{n+1} \circ \cdots \circ \Phi_{n+m} = \{f_1 \circ \cdots \circ f_m : f_i \in \Phi_{n+i}\}.$$

We establish the following formula for the Assouad dimension of *K*.

Theorem 3.7. Let $(\Phi_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a non-autonomous IFS satisfying the open set condition and with uniformly bounded contraction ratios. Denote the associated non-autonomous self-similar set by K. Then

(3.5)
$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} K = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta(n, m).$$

Proof. Let us first show that the limit in (3.5) exists by verifying that the function $\theta(n,m)$ satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 3.4 with $A = \mathbb{N}$. First, $\theta(n,m) \in [0,d]$ since $\#\mathcal{J}_n \geq 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and the open set condition along with scaling properties of *d*-dimensional Lebesgue measure forces $\sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}_n} r_{n,j}^d \leq 1$. Thus it remains to verify assumption (ii) in Lemma 3.4. Let $n, m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ be arbitrary. Recalling the definitions of $\theta(n, m_1)$ and $\theta(n + m_1, m_2)$, by Hölder's inequality with exponents $(m_1 + m_2)/m_1$ and $(m_1 + m_2)/m_2$,

$$1 = \sum_{j_1 \in \mathcal{J}_{n+1}} \cdots \sum_{j_{m_1+m_2} \in \mathcal{J}_{n+m_1+m_2}} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{m_1} r_{n+k,j_k} \right)^{\theta(n,m_1)} \left(\prod_{k=m_1+1}^{m_1+m_2} r_{n+k,j_k} \right)^{\theta(n+m_1,m_2)}$$
$$\geq \sum_{j_1 \in \mathcal{J}_{n+1}} \cdots \sum_{j_{m_1+m_2} \in \mathcal{J}_{n+m_1+m_2}} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{m_1+m_2} r_{n+k,j_k} \right)^{\frac{m_1\theta(n,m_1)+m_2\theta(n+m_1,m_2)}{m_1+m_2}}.$$

But $\theta(n, m_1 + m_2)$ is the unique value satisfying $\phi(\theta(n, m_1 + m_2)) = 1$, where

$$\phi(s) = \sum_{j_1 \in \mathcal{J}_{n+1}} \cdots \sum_{j_{m_1+m_2} \in \mathcal{J}_{n+m_1+m_2}} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{m_1+m_2} r_{n+k,j_k} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

is monotonically decreasing in *s*, yielding the desired inequality. In particular, the limit in (3.5) exists.

Let us now verify the formula. First, recall from Corollary 3.3 that $\dim_A K = \dim_A \Delta$. Let $\epsilon > 0$ be fixed and let M be sufficiently large so that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $m \ge M$,

$$|\theta(n,m) - s| \le \epsilon$$
 where $s = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta(n,m).$

Now fix a cylinder $[j_1, \ldots, j_n] \subset \Delta$ for some $(j_1, \ldots, j_n) \in \mathcal{J}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{J}_n$ and write $R = \operatorname{diam}([j_1, \ldots, j_n]) = r_{1,j_1} \cdots r_{n,j_n}$. Note that if $m \geq M$, by definition of $\theta(n, m)$

$$\sum_{j_{n+1}\in\mathcal{J}_{n+1}}\cdots\sum_{j_{n+m}\in\mathcal{J}_{n+m}}\prod_{k=1}^{n+m}r_{k,j_k}^{\theta(n,m)}=R^{\theta(n,m)}$$

But the family of cylinders

$$\left\{ [j_1, \ldots, j_{n+m}] : (j_{n+1}, \ldots, j_{n+m}) \in \mathcal{J}_{n+1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{J}_{n+m} \right\}$$

forms a packing of B(x, R). Thus since $m \ge M$ is arbitrary, by Proposition 3.6, $\dim_A K \ge s - \epsilon$.

Conversely, let us upper bound $\dim_A K$. Recall that $\epsilon > 0$ is fixed as above and let $m \ge M$ be fixed. Now let $0 < r \le R < 1$ and fix a ball $B(x, R) \subset \Delta$. By definition of the metric on Δ , $B(x, R) = [j_1, \ldots, j_n]$ where $r_{1,j_1} \cdots r_{n,j_n} \le R$. We inductively build a sequence of covers $(\mathcal{B}_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ for B(x, R) such that each \mathcal{B}_k is composed only of cylinder sets and

(3.6)
$$\sum_{[i_1,\ldots,i_\ell]\in\mathcal{B}_k} (r_{1,i_1}\cdots r_{\ell,i_\ell})^{s+\epsilon} \le R^{s+\epsilon}.$$

and

(3.7)
$$r_{1,i_1}\cdots r_{\ell,i_\ell} \geq r \cdot r_{\min}^m$$
 for all $[i_1,\ldots,i_\ell] \in \mathcal{B}_k.$

Begin with $\mathcal{B}_1 = \{[j_1, \dots, j_n]\}$, which clearly satisfies the requirements.

Now suppose we have constructed \mathcal{B}_k for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $[i_1, \ldots, i_\ell] \in \mathcal{B}_k$ be an arbitrary cylinder set. If $r_{1,i_1} \cdots r_{\ell,i_\ell} \leq r$, do nothing; this guarantees that (3.7) holds. Otherwise, replace the cylinder $[i_1, \ldots, i_\ell]$ with the family of cylinders

$$\{[i_1,\ldots,i_\ell,j_1,\ldots,j_m]:(j_1,\ldots,j_m)\in\mathcal{J}_{\ell+1}\times\cdots\times\mathcal{J}_{\ell+m}\}$$

The choice of $m \ge M$ and the definition of $\theta(\ell, m)$ ensures that (3.6) holds.

Repeat this process until every cylinder in \mathcal{B}_k has diameter $\leq r$. That this process terminates at a finite level k is guaranteed by (3.1). Thus replacing each cylinder $[i_1, \ldots, i_\ell]$ with a ball $B(x_{i_1,\ldots,i_\ell}, r)$ for some $x_{i_1,\ldots,i_\ell} \in [i_1, \ldots, i_\ell]$, by (3.6) and (3.7) the corresponding cover has

$$\sum_{[i_1,\dots,i_\ell]\in\mathcal{B}_k} r^{s+\epsilon} \le r_{\min}^{-m(s+\epsilon)} \sum_{[i_1,\dots,i_\ell]\in\mathcal{B}_k} (r_{1,i_1}\cdots r_{\ell,i_\ell})^{s+\epsilon} \lesssim R^{s+\epsilon}$$

which guarantees that $\dim_A K \leq s + \epsilon$, as claimed.

4. TANGENT STRUCTURE AND DIMENSION OF GATZOURAS-LALLEY CARPETS

In this section, we introduce the definitions of Gatzouras–Lalley and Barański carpets and prove our main results on tangents and pointwise Assouad dimension of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets.

4.1. Gatzouras–Lalley and Barański carpets.

4.1.1. Defining the maps. Fix an index set \mathcal{I} with $\#\mathcal{I} \geq 2$, and for j = 1, 2 fix contraction ratios $(\beta_{i,j})_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \subset (0, 1)$ and translations $(d_{i,j})_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \subset \mathbb{R}$. We then call the IFS $\{T_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$ diagonal when

$$T_i(x_1, x_2) = (\beta_{i,1}x_1 + d_{i,1}, \beta_{i,2}x_2 + d_{i,2})$$
 for each $i \in \mathcal{I}$.

Let η_j denote the orthogonal projection onto the j^{th} coordinate axis, i.e. $\eta_j(x_1, x_2) = x_j$. We denote by $\Lambda_j = \{S_{i,j}\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$ the *projected systems*, where $\eta_j \circ T_j = S_{i,j} \circ \eta_j$. We will often write $\eta = \eta_1$ to denote simply the projection onto the first coordinate axis. Of course, $S_{i,j}(x) = \beta_{i,j}x + d_{i,j}$ are iterated function systems of similarities.

Let $\mathcal{I}^* = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}^n$, and for $i = (i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and j = 1, 2, write

$$T_{\mathbf{i}} = T_{i_1} \circ \cdots \circ T_{i_n},$$
$$S_{\mathbf{i},j} = S_{i_1,j} \circ \cdots \circ S_{i_n,j}$$

and

$$p_{\mathbf{i}} = p_{i_1} \cdots p_{i_n},$$
$$\beta_{\mathbf{i},j} = \beta_{i_1,j} \cdots \beta_{i_n,j}$$

For $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\gamma \in \Omega \coloneqq \mathcal{I}^{\mathbb{N}}$, we write $\gamma \uparrow_n$ to denote the unique prefix of γ in \mathcal{I}^n .

Now η_j induces an equivalence relation \sim_j on \mathcal{I} where $i \sim i'$ if $S_{i,j} = S_{i',j}$. Let $\eta_j \colon \mathcal{I} \to \mathcal{I} / \sim_j$ denote the natural projection. Intuitively, $\eta_j(i)$ is the set of indices which lie in the same column or row as the index i. Then η_j extends naturally to a map on Ω by $\eta_j((i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}) = (\eta_j(i_n))_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \eta_j(\mathcal{I})^*$; and similarly extends to a map on \mathcal{I}^* . For notational clarity, we will refer to words in \mathcal{I}^* using upright indices, such as i, and words in $\eta_j(\mathcal{I}^*)$ using their underlined variants, such as \underline{i} . Note that if $i \sim_j j$, then and $S_{i,j} = S_{j,j}$. In particularly, we may unambiguously write $S_{\underline{i},j}$ and $\beta_{\underline{i},j}$ for $\underline{i} \in \eta_j(\mathcal{I}^*)$.

Associated with the IFS $\{T_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$ is a unique non-empty compact *attractor* K, satisfying $K = \bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{I}} T_i(K)$. Note that the projected IFS $\{S_{i,j}\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$ has attractor $K_j = \eta_i(K)$ for j = 1, 2. Recalling that $\Omega = \mathcal{I}^{\mathbb{N}}$, let $\pi \colon \Omega \to K$ denote the continuous map

$$\left\{\pi\left((i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}\right)\right\} = \lim_{n \to \infty} S_{i_1} \circ \cdots \circ S_{i_n}(K).$$

Without loss of generality, and for the remainder of this document, we will assume that $K \subset [0,1]^2$. We can now introduce our two primary classes of self-affine sets.

Definition 4.1. We say that the carpet is of type *Gatzouras–Lalley* if:

1. $T_i((0,1)^2) \cap T_j((0,1)^2) = \emptyset$ for all $i \neq j$,

2. either $S_{i,1}((0,1)) = S_{(j,1)}((0,1))$ or $S_{i,1}((0,1)) \cap S_{j,1}((0,1)) = \emptyset$ for all i, j, and 3. $\beta_{i,1} > \beta_{i,2}$ for all $i \in \mathcal{I}$;

and type *Barański* if:

1. $T_i((0,1)^2) \cap T_j((0,1)^2) = \emptyset$ for all $i \neq j$, and

2. either $S_{i,\ell}((0,1)) = S_{(j,\ell)}([0,1])$ or $S_{i,\ell}((0,1)) \cap S_{j,\ell}((0,1)) = \emptyset$ for all i, j and $\ell = 1, 2$.

Moreover, we say that an IFS $\{f_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$ with attractor K satisfies the *strong separation condition* (or SSC for short) if $f_i(K) \cap f_j(K) = \emptyset$ for all $i \neq j \in \mathcal{I}$.

4.1.2. *Dimensions of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets*. To conclude this section, we recall some standard results on the dimensions of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets. We defer the corresponding results for Barański carpets to §5.1.

Before we do this, we first recall the notion of the lower dimension, which is in some sense dual to the definition of Assouad definition. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be compact. Then the *lower dimension* of K is given by

$$\dim_{\mathcal{L}} K = \sup \left\{ s : \exists C > 0 \,\forall 0 < r \le R < 1 \,\forall x \in K \\ N_r(B(x, R) \cap K) \ge C \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^s \right\}$$

In order to state our results on the Hausdorff dimensions, we must also introduce some notation for Bernoulli measures. Let \mathcal{P} denote the collection of probability vectors on \mathcal{I} , i.e.

$$\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{I}) \coloneqq \Big\{ (p_i)_{i \in \mathcal{I}} : p_i \ge 0 \text{ for all } i \text{ and } \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} p_i = 1 \Big\}.$$

Equip \mathcal{P} with the topology inherited from $\mathbb{R}^{\mathcal{I}}$. Given $p \in \mathcal{P}$, considering p as a probability measure on \mathcal{I} , we let $p^{\mathbb{N}}$ denote the infinite product measure supported on Ω . We let $\mu_p = \pi_* p^{\mathbb{N}}$ denote the corresponding invariant measure on K, where π_* denotes the pushforward map. Note that the projections η_j also induce natural maps $\eta_j \colon \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{I}) \to \mathcal{P}(\eta_j(\mathcal{I}))$ by $\eta_j(p)_{\underline{\ell}} = \sum_{i \in \eta_j^{-1}(\underline{\ell})} p_i$.

Given a probability vector $\boldsymbol{p} \in \mathcal{P}$, we write

$$H(\mathbf{p}) = -\sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} p_i \log p_i$$
 and $\chi_j(\mathbf{p}) = -\sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} p_i \log \beta_{i,j}$.

We now recall the main results of [LG92]—stated below in (i) and (ii)—as well as the result of [Mac11]—stated below in (iii). We also note that the same proof as given in [Mac11] (which is explained more precisely in [Fra14, Theorem 2.13]) gives the analogous result for the lower dimension.

Proposition 4.2 ([LG92; Mac11]). *Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet.*

(i) The Hausdorff dimension of K is given by

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K = \sup_{\boldsymbol{p} \in \mathcal{P}} s(\boldsymbol{p})$$

where

$$s(\boldsymbol{p}) \coloneqq \frac{H(\boldsymbol{p})}{\chi_2(\boldsymbol{p})} + \frac{H(\eta(\boldsymbol{p}))}{\chi_1(\boldsymbol{p}) - \chi_2(\boldsymbol{p})}$$

Moreover, the supremum is always attained at an interior point of \mathcal{P} .

(ii) The box dimension of K exists and is given by the unique solution to

$$\sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \beta_{i,1}^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)} \beta_{i,2}^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} K - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)} = 1 \qquad \text{where} \qquad \sum_{\underline{j} \in \eta(\mathcal{I})} \beta_{\underline{j},1}^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)} = 1.$$

(iii) The Assouad dimension of K is given by

$$\dim_{\mathbf{A}} K = \dim_{\mathbf{B}} \eta(K) + \max_{\underline{\ell} \in \eta(\mathcal{I})} t(\underline{\ell})$$

where $t(\underline{\ell})$ is defined as the unique solution to the equations

Ĵ

$$\sum_{i \in \eta^{-1}(\underline{\ell})} \beta_{j,2}^{t(\underline{\ell})} = 1.$$

Similarly, the lower dimension of K is given by

$$\dim_{\mathcal{L}} K = t + \min_{\underline{\ell} \in \eta(\mathcal{I})} t(\underline{\ell}).$$

4.1.3. *Regular points and interior words*. We conclude this section with the notion of a regular point and an interior word.

Definition 4.3. We say that a point $x \in K$ is *regular* if for each $r \in (0, 1)$, there is an $i \in \mathcal{I}^*$ with $\beta_{i,1} \leq r$ such that $B(\eta(x), r) \cap \eta(K) \subset S_{i,1}(\eta(K))$. Given $i \in \mathcal{I}^*$, we say that i is an *interior word* if $S_{i,1}([0,1]) \subset (0,1)$. We let $\mathcal{B}_n \subset \mathcal{I}^n$ denote the set of interior words of length n.

The following lemma is standard. Recall that $\Omega = \mathcal{I}^{\mathbb{N}}$ is the symbolic space coding the attractor K. Here, and elsewhere, given an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\mathcal{Y} \subset \mathcal{I}^n$, we embed $\mathcal{Y}^{\mathbb{N}}$ in Ω in the natural way. We will abuse notation and interchangeably refer to elements in the subsystem or in the full system.

Lemma 4.4. *Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet.*

- (*i*) If $\eta(K)$ satisfies the SSC, then each $x \in K$ is regular.
- (ii) Suppose $\gamma \in \mathcal{B}_n^{\mathbb{N}}$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $\pi(\gamma)$ is regular.

We can now guarantee the existence of large subsystems consisting only of regular points. This result is essentially [FJS10, Lemma 4.3].

Proposition 4.5 ([FJS10]). Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet corresponding to the IFS $\{T_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$. Then for every $\epsilon > 0$, there is an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and a family $\mathcal{J} \subset \mathcal{I}^n$ so that the IFS $\{T_j : j \in \mathcal{J}\}$ with attractor K_{ϵ} satisfies the following conditions:

- (*i*) each $i \in \mathcal{J}$ is an interior word,
- (*ii*) $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K_{\epsilon} \geq \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K \epsilon$,
- (*iii*) dim_B $\eta(K_{\epsilon}) \ge \dim_{B} \eta(K) \epsilon$, and
- (iv) there are $0 < \rho_2 < \rho_1 < 1$ so that $\beta_{i,1} = \rho_1$ and $\beta_{i,2} = \rho_2$ for all $i \in \mathcal{I}$ and each column has the same number of maps.

In particular, each $x \in K_{\epsilon}$ is a regular point with respect to the IFS $\{T_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$ and $\dim_A K_{\epsilon} = \dim_H K_{\epsilon} = \dim_L K_{\epsilon}$.

Proof. First, if *K* is contained in a vertical line, then *K* is the attractor of a self-similar IFS in \mathbb{R} and the result is substantially easier. Now applying [FJS10, Lemma 4.3], there exists a family $\mathcal{J}_0 \subset \mathcal{I}^{n_0}$ with attractor K_0 satisfying conditions (ii), (iii), and (iv). By condition (iv), there is a $t \in \mathbb{R}$ so that t(i) = t for all $i \in \mathcal{J}_0$. Therefore

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K_0 = \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + t$$

and since *K* is not contained in a vertical line, we may assume that $\dim_B \eta(K_0) > 0$.

Since $\eta(K_0)$ is the attractor of a self-similar IFS, iterating \mathcal{J}_0 if necessary and removing the maps in the first and last column, obtain a family $\mathcal{J} \subset \mathcal{J}_0^n$ with corresponding attractor K_{ϵ} such that $t(\mathbf{j}) = t$ for any $\mathbf{j} \in \mathcal{J}$, and $\dim_B \eta(K_{\epsilon}) \ge \dim_B \eta(K) - \epsilon$. Since words which correspond to rectangles that do not lie in the first or last column are necessarily interior words, combining this construction with Lemma 4.4 provides a family \mathcal{J} satisfying the desired properties.

4.2. Approximate squares and symbolic slices. A common technique when studying invariant sets for iterated function systems on some index set \mathcal{I} is to first reduce the problem to a symbolic problem on the coding space \mathcal{I}^* . However, the main technical complexity in understanding the dimension theory Gatzouras–Lalley carpets, and more generally self-affine sets, is that the cylinder sets $T_i(K)$ are often exponentially distorted rectangles. As a result, we will keep track of two symbolic systems simultaneously, which together will capture the geometry of the set K.

Fix a Gatzouras–Lalley IFS $\Lambda = \{T_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$. We first introduce some notation for handling cylinders. We then associate with the IFS Λ , and the related defining data that we introduced in §4.1, two important metric trees: first, the metric tree of *approximate squares*, and second the metric tree of *symbolic slices*.

First, recall that $\Omega = \mathcal{I}^{\mathbb{N}}$ is the space of infinite sequences on \mathcal{I} . Given $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ and a word $i \in \mathcal{I}^k$, we define the *cylinder* corresponding to i by

$$[\mathbf{i}] = \{ \gamma \in \Omega : \gamma \mathbf{1}_k = \mathbf{i} \}.$$

The family of cylinders $\{[i] : i \in \mathcal{I}^k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ defines a tree: we will often abuse notation and simply refer to $\{\mathcal{I}^k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ as a tree. We will associate with this tree a variety of metrics, such as those induced by the maps $i \mapsto \beta_{i,j}$ for j = 1, 2. We will also use the same notation for the projected words $\{\eta(\mathcal{I}^k)\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$.

Next, we define the *metric tree of approximate squares*. Before we do this, we introduce the notion of a *pseudo-cylinder*. Suppose $i \in \mathcal{I}^k$ and $\underline{j} \in \eta(\mathcal{I}^\ell)$. We then write

$$P(\mathbf{i},\mathbf{j}) = \{\gamma = (i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \in \Omega : (i_1,\ldots,i_k) = \mathbf{i} \text{ and } \eta(i_{k+1},\ldots,i_{k+\ell}) = \mathbf{j}\}$$

Note that map $(i, \underline{j}) \mapsto P(i, \underline{j})$ is injective. Another equivalent way to understand the pseudo-cylinder $P(i, \underline{j})$ is as a finite union of cylinders inside the cylinder [i], all of which lie inside the same column; that is,

(4.1)
$$P(\mathbf{i},\underline{\mathbf{j}}) = \bigcup_{\mathbf{k}\in\eta^{-1}(\underline{\mathbf{j}})} [\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}].$$



FIGURE 3. Two iterations of a Gatzouras–Lalley IFS within a cylinder, with a wide pseudo-cylinder in highlighted in blue and a tall pseudo-cylinder in red.

We refer the reader to Figure 3 for a depiction of the definition of a pseudo-cylinder. Now given an infinite word $\gamma \in \Omega$, let $L_k(\gamma)$ be the minimal integer so that

$$\beta_{\gamma_1,1}\cdots\beta_{\gamma_{L_k}(\gamma),1} < \beta_{\gamma_1,2}\cdots\beta_{\gamma_k,2}.$$

In other words, $L_k(\gamma)$ is chosen so that the level $L_k(\gamma)$ rectangle has approximately the same width as the height of the level k rectangle. Write $\gamma |_{L_k(\gamma)} = ij$ where $i \in \mathcal{I}^k$. We then define the *approximate square* $Q_k(\gamma) \subset \Omega$ by

$$Q_k(\gamma) = P(\mathbf{i}, \eta(\mathbf{j})).$$

While different γ may define the same approximate square, the choice of i and $\eta(j)$ are unique. For fixed i, let $\mathcal{U}(i) \subset \eta(\mathcal{I}^*)$ denote the set of \underline{j} so that $P(i, \underline{j})$ is an approximate square. Of course, $Q_{k+1}(\gamma) \subset Q_k(\gamma)$ and moreover for any $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Omega$, either $Q_k(\gamma) = Q_k(\gamma')$ or $Q_k(\gamma) \cap Q_k(\gamma') = \emptyset$. In particular, $\mathcal{U}(i)$ is a complete section and the approximate squares $P(i, \underline{j})$ are disjoint in symbolic space for fixed i.

We say that a pseudo-cylinder $P(i, \underline{j})$ is *wide* if $\underline{j} \preccurlyeq \underline{k}$ for some $\underline{k} \in \mathcal{U}(i)$; in other words, $P(i, \underline{j})$ contains approximate squares of the form $P(i, \underline{k})$. Otherwise, we say that $P(i, \underline{j})$ is *tall*. In other words, one can think of the wide pseudo-cylinders as "interpolating" between the cylinder $P(i, \emptyset) = [i]$ and the approximate square $P(i, j) = Q_n(\gamma)$.

Denote the set of all approximate squares by

$$\mathcal{S}_k = \{Q_k(\gamma) : \gamma \in \Omega\}$$
 and $\mathcal{S} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{S}_k$.

As discussed above, every approximate square is uniquely associated with a pair (i, \underline{j}) , so we may therefore define a metric induced by $\rho(Q) = \beta_{i,2}$, which makes the collection of approximate squares into a metric tree.

To conclude this section, we define the *metric tree of symbolic slices*. Suppose we fix a word $\gamma \in \Omega$. The word $\gamma = (i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ defines for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ a self-similar IFS $\Phi_n = \{S_{j,2} : j \in \eta^{-1}(\eta(i_n))\}$. This IFS is precisely the IFS corresponding to the column containing the index i_n . Note that there are only finitely many possible choices for the Φ_n , so the sequence $(\Phi_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ has as an attractor a non-autonomous self-similar set $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ and corresponding metric tree $\Omega(\eta(\gamma))$, as defined in §3. This non-autonomous IFS has uniformly bounded contractions and satisfies the OSC with respect to the open interval (0, 1). For notational simplicity, we denote the cylinder sets which compose this metric tree as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma),n} = \{ [j_1, \dots, j_n] : (j_1, \dots, j_n) \in \Phi_1 \times \dots \times \Phi_n \} \text{ and } \mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma)} = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma),n}.$$

We call $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ the symbolic slice associated with the word γ . If the projected IFS $\{S_{i,1}\}_{i \in \eta(\mathcal{I})}$ satisfies the SSC, then if $x = \eta(\pi(\gamma))$,

$$\{x\} \times K_{\eta(\gamma)} = \eta^{-1}(x) \cap K$$

is precisely the vertical slice of *K* containing *x*. In general, $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ is always contained inside a vertical slice of *K*. The symbolic fibre $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ (and its associated Assouad dimension) was introduced and studied in [FR22+, §1.2] in the more general setting of overlapping diagonal carpets.

4.3. Tangents of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets. It turns out that the pointwise Assouad dimension at $x = \pi(\gamma)$ is closely related to the Assouad dimension of the symbolic fibre $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$. In this section, we make this notion precise, and moreover use it to construct large tangents for Gatzouras–Lalley carpets.

In our main result in this section, we prove that approximate squares containing a fixed word $\gamma \in \Omega$ converge in Hausdorff distance to product sets of weak tangents of $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ with the projection $\eta(K)$, up to some finite distortion and contributions from adjacent approximate squares. First, we define

$$\Phi_{k,\gamma}(x,y) = \left(S_{\gamma|_{L^{1}(\gamma)},1}^{-1}(x), S_{\gamma|_{k},2}^{-1}(y)\right).$$

By choice of $L_k(\gamma)$, the maps $\Phi_{k,\gamma}$ are (up to some constant-size distortion) homotheties. One can think of $\Phi_{k,\gamma}$ as mapping the approximate square $\pi(Q_k(\gamma))$ to the unit square $[0, 1]^2$.

Proposition 4.6. Let *K* be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet and let $\gamma \in \Omega$ be arbitrary. Suppose $(i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is any sequence such that $\eta(i_n) = \eta(\gamma|_n)$. Then

(4.2)
$$p_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\eta(K) \times (S^{-1}_{i_{n},2}(K_{\eta(\gamma)}) \cap [0,1]); \Phi_{n,\gamma}(K) \cap [0,1]^2\right) \lesssim \kappa^n$$

where $\kappa = \max\{\frac{\beta_{i,2}}{\beta_{i,1}} : i \in \mathcal{I}\} \in (0,1)$. Moreover, suppose γ is regular. Then for any $\gamma \in \Omega$ and $F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, \pi(\gamma))$, there is an $E \in \operatorname{Tan}(K_{\eta(\gamma)})$ and a similarity map h so that $h(F) \subset \eta(K) \times E$.

Proof. We first prove that

$$d_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\eta(K) \times (S_{\mathbf{i}_n,2}^{-1}(K_{\eta(\gamma)}) \cap [0,1]), \Phi_{n,\gamma}(\pi(Q_n(\gamma)))\right) \lesssim \kappa^n$$

Fix $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and write $k = L_n(\gamma)$. Let $Q_n(\gamma) = P(\gamma|_n, \underline{j})$ and enumerate $\eta^{-1}(\underline{j}) = \{j_1, \ldots, j_n\} \subset \mathcal{I}^{k-n}$. Observe that $\eta(T_{j_i}(K)) = S_{j_i,1}(K)$ does not depend on the choice of $i = 1, \ldots, m$. Now $\Phi_{n,\gamma}(T_{\gamma|_n,j_i}(K))$ is contained in the rectangle

 $[0,1] \times S_{j_i,2}(K)$. Moreover, the rectangle $[0,1] \times S_{j_i,2}(K)$ has height $\lesssim \kappa^n$. Therefore

(4.3)
$$d_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\eta(K) \times \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} S_{\mathbf{j}_{i},2}([0,1]), \Phi_{n,\gamma}(Q_{n}(\gamma))\right) \lesssim \kappa^{n}$$

But approximating the set $S_{i_n,2}([0,1]) \cap K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ at level n with cylinders at level $k = L_n(\gamma)$, using the fact that $\eta(i_n) = \eta(\gamma | _n)$,

(4.4)
$$d_{\mathcal{H}}\left(S_{\mathbf{i}_{n,2}}^{-1}(K_{\eta(\gamma)})\cap[0,1],\bigcup_{i=1}^{m}S_{\mathbf{j}_{i,2}}([0,1])\right)\lesssim\kappa^{n}.$$

Combining (4.3) and (4.4) gives the claim. In particular, noting that $Q_n(\gamma) \subset K$ and $\Phi_{n,\gamma}(Q_n(\gamma)) \subset [0,1]^2$ gives (4.2).

Now suppose in addition that $x = \pi(\gamma)$ is regular and let r > 0 be arbitrary. Since x is regular, there is an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $r \leq \beta_{\gamma \uparrow_n, 1} \leq r$ such that

$$B(x,r) \cap K \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell} T_{\mathbf{i}_j}(K)$$

where

$$\{\mathbf{i}_1,\ldots,\mathbf{i}_\ell\} = \{\mathbf{i}\in\mathcal{I}^n: \eta(\mathbf{i}) = \eta(\gamma|_n) \text{ and } T_\mathbf{i}(K)\cap B(x,r)\neq\emptyset\}.$$

Now exactly as before, each rectangle $T_{i_j}(K)$ has width $\approx r$ and height $\leq r\kappa^n$. Therefore identifying $x \in K$ with the analogous point $x \in K_{\eta(\gamma)}$, there is a similarity map h_r with contraction ratio in some interval [1, c] for a fixed c depending only on the IFS so that

$$p_{\mathcal{H}}\left(r^{-1}(K-x)\cap B(0,1);h_r(\eta(K))\times r^{-1}(K_{\eta(\gamma)}-x)\right)\lesssim \kappa^n.$$

Now suppose $F \in Tan(K, x)$ so that $F = \lim_{n\to\infty} r_n^{-1}(K - x) \cap B(0, 1)$. Passing to a subsequence, we may assume that the h_{r_n} have contraction ratios converging to some $r_0 \ge 1$. Thus passing again to a subsequence, let $F_0 = \lim_{n\to\infty} (r_0 r_n)^{-1} (K - x) \cap B(0, 1)$. Since $r_0 \ge 1$, we have $F \subset F_0$. Passing again to a subsequence, let

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (r_0 r_n)^{-1} (K_{\eta(\gamma)} - x) \cap B(0, 1) = E \in \operatorname{Tan}(K_{\eta(\gamma)})$$

Thus $r_0^{-1}F \subset F_0 \subset \eta(K) \times E$, as claimed.

To conclude this section, we establish our general result which guarantees the existence of product-like tangents for arbitrary points in Gatzouras–Lalley carpets.

Proposition 4.7. Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet. Then for each $x \in K$, there is an $F \in Tan(K, x)$ so that

$$\mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}}\eta(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{A}}K_{\eta(\gamma)}}(F) \gtrsim 1,$$

where $\gamma \in \Omega$ is such that $\pi(\gamma) = x$. In particular,

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) \ge \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{H}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}, \dim_{\mathcal{B}} K\}.$$

Proof. We will construct the set F essentially as a product $\eta(K) \times E$ where E is a *weak* tangent of $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$. First, recall from Corollary 3.3 that $\dim_A K_{\eta(\gamma)} = \dim_A \Omega(\eta(\gamma))$. Thus there is a sequence $(n_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ diverging to infinity and words $\mathbf{i}_k \in \mathcal{I}^{n_k}$ with $\eta(\mathbf{i}_k) = \gamma \mathbf{1}_{n_k}$ such that

$$E \coloneqq \lim_{k \to \infty} S_{\mathbf{i}_k, 2}^{-1}(K_{\eta(\gamma)}) \cap [0, 1]$$

has $\mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathbf{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}}(E) \gtrsim 1.$

Thus by Proposition 4.6 applied along the sequence $(i_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$, since the images $\Phi_{n,\gamma}^{-1}([0,1]^2)$ are rectangles with bounded eccentricity containing $\pi(\gamma)$, there is a tangent $F \in \text{Tan}(K, x)$ containing an image of $\eta(K) \times E$ under a bi-Lipschitz map with constants depending only on K. But $\eta(K)$ is Ahlfors–David regular so that

$$\mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}}\eta(K)+\dim_{\mathrm{A}}K_{\eta(\gamma)}}(F) \geq \mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}}\eta(K)+\dim_{\mathrm{A}}K_{\eta(\gamma)}}(\eta(K) \times E) \gtrsim 1$$

as claimed. The result concerning $\dim_A(K, x)$ then follows by Proposition 2.2 and Proposition 2.13.

4.4. Upper bounds for the pointwise Assouad dimension. We now prove our main upper bound for the pointwise Assouad dimension of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets. As a result of the local inhomogeneity of Gatzouras–Lalley carpets, obtaining good upper bounds requires some care. We will prove a sequence of lemmas which, morally, provide optimal covers for a variety of symbolic objects: these covers will then be combined to obtain our general upper bound for the pointwise Assouad dimension.

We first show that, as a result of the vertical alignment of their component cylinders, pseudo cylinders can essentially be covered by their projection. Recall that S denotes the set of all approximate squares. Then if $P(i, \underline{j})$ is any wide pseudo-cylinder, we can write it as a union of the approximate squares in the family

$$\mathcal{Q}(i, j) = \{ Q \in \mathcal{S} : Q = P(i, \underline{k}) \text{ for some } \underline{k} \in \eta(\mathcal{I}^*) \text{ and } Q \subset P(i, j) \}.$$

Since each $Q = P(i, \underline{k})$ for some \underline{k} , we have $Q \in S(\beta_{i,2})$ so that this family of approximate squares forms a section.

Lemma 4.8. Let P(i, j) be a wide pseudo-cylinder. Then

$$\#\mathcal{Q}(\mathbf{i},\underline{\mathbf{j}}) \approx \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{\mathbf{j}},1}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i},2}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta(K)}$$

Proof. First, enumerate $Q(i, \underline{j}) = \{Q_1, \ldots, Q_m\}$, and for each $i = 1, \ldots, m$, there is a unique \underline{k}_i so that $Q_i = P(i, \underline{k}_i)$. Moreover, $\{\underline{k}_1, \ldots, \underline{k}_m\}$ forms a section relative to $[\underline{j}]$, so that writing $s = \dim_B \eta(K)$ and recalling that $\eta(K)$ is the attractor of a self-similar IFS satisfying the open set condition,

(4.5)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \beta_{\underline{k}_i,1}^s = \beta_{\underline{j},1}^s.$$

But $\beta_{i\underline{k}_i,1} \approx \beta_{i,2}$ since each Q_i is an approximate square, which gives the desired result.

In the next result, we provide good covers for cylinder sets using approximate squares with diameter bounded above by the height of the corresponding rectangle. Heuristically, a cylinder set can first be decomposed into approximate squares using Lemma 4.8, and an "average" approximate square itself has box dimension the same as the box dimension of K. To make this notion precise, we simply reverse the order: we begin with a good cover for the box dimension of K, and take the image under some word i. The image of each approximate square is a wide pseudo-cylinder, so we may apply Lemma 4.8 to complete the bound.

Lemma 4.9. Suppose $i \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and $0 < r \leq \beta_{i,2}$. Then

$$\#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r): Q \subset [\mathtt{i}]\} \approx \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathtt{i},2}}{r}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} K} \cdot \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathtt{i},1}}{\beta_{\mathtt{i},2}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)}$$

Proof. Fix $i \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and $0 < r \leq \beta_{i,2}$. Write $\delta = r/\beta_{i,2}$, so by inspecting the proofs of [LG92, Lemmas 2.1, 2.2, & 2.3], we see that

$$\#\mathcal{S}(\delta) \approx (1/\delta)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} K}.$$

Enumerate $S(\delta) = \{Q_1, \ldots, Q_m\}$ and for each $i = 1, \ldots, m$, we may write $Q_i = P(\mathbf{j}_i, \underline{\mathbf{k}}_i)$ for some $\mathbf{j}_i \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and $\underline{\mathbf{k}}_i \in \eta(\mathcal{I}^*)$. Then for each $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$\mathcal{Q}(\mathtt{ij}_i, \underline{\mathtt{k}}_i) \subset \mathcal{S}(r) \quad \text{and} \quad [\mathtt{i}] = \bigcup_{i=1}^m \bigcup_{Q \in \mathcal{Q}(\mathtt{ij}_i, \underline{\mathtt{k}}_i)} Q.$$

Thus by Lemma 4.8 applied to each pseudo-cylinder $P(ij_i, \underline{k}_i)$, since Q_i is an approximate square and $\beta_{j_i \underline{k}_i, 1} \approx \beta_{j_i, 2}$,

$$\begin{split} \#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset [\mathtt{i}]\} &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \#\mathcal{Q}(\mathtt{i}\mathtt{j}_{i}, \underline{\mathtt{k}}_{i}) \\ &\approx \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathtt{i}\mathtt{j}_{i}\underline{\mathtt{k}}_{i},1}}{\beta_{\mathtt{i}\mathtt{j}_{i},2}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)} \\ &\approx \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathtt{i},2}}{r}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} K} \cdot \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathtt{i},1}}{\beta_{\mathtt{i},2}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)} \end{split}$$

as claimed.

To conclude our collection of preliminary lemmas, we use the Assouad dimension of the symbolic fibre $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ to control the size of "column sections" of approximate squares. We note that the word i appears in the hypothesis but not the conclusion: this is simply to clarify the application of this lemma when it is used in Proposition 4.11.

Lemma 4.10. Let $\epsilon > 0$ and $\gamma \in \Omega$ be arbitrary. Suppose $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $Q_k(\gamma) = P(i, \underline{j})$. Let \mathcal{A} be any section of \mathcal{I}^* such that $\mathcal{A} \preccurlyeq \eta^{-1}(\underline{j})$. Then

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}}\beta_{\mathbf{k},2}^{\dim_{\mathbf{A}}K_{\eta(\gamma)}+\epsilon}\lesssim_{\epsilon,\gamma}1$$

Proof. The assumption on the section \mathcal{A} precisely means that $\{ik : k \in \mathcal{A}\}\$ is a section relative to i in $\mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma)}$. Then by Proposition 3.6 applied to the metric space $\Omega(\eta(\gamma))$ (recalling that $\dim_A \Omega(\eta(\gamma)) = \dim_A K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ from Corollary 3.3), since \mathcal{A} is a section,

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k},2}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i},2}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathbf{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}+\epsilon} \lesssim_{\epsilon,\gamma} 1.$$

Cancelling the $\beta_{i,2}$ gives the desired result.

Finally, by combining the various counts that we have established earlier in this section, we are now in position to compute the upper bound for the pointwise Assouad dimension.

Let us begin with an intuitive explanation for this proof. Since x is regular, we will reduce the problem of computing covers of balls to computing covers for approximate squares. Thus suppose we fix an approximate square P(i, j), which is the union of cylinders $\{ik : \eta(k) = j\}$. We wish to cover this set with approximate squares in S(r). There are two cases. First, the rectangle corresponding to the cylinder ik has height greater than or equal to r, in which case we simply keep this cylinder and obtain a good bound for the cover using Lemma 4.9: this is the family A_1 . Otherwise, the rectangle is shorter, and we instead want to cover groups of cylinders simultaneously. Such groups are precisely wide pseudo-cylinders corresponding to elements of A_2 and have height r, which we can then cover using Lemma 4.8. These covers are then combined using Lemma 4.10.

Proposition 4.11. Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet and suppose $x = \pi(\gamma) \in K$. Then

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) \ge \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{B}} K, \dim_{\mathcal{H}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}\}$$

with equality if x is regular.

Proof. Recalling the general lower bound proven in Proposition 4.7, we must show that

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) \le \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{B}} K, \dim_{\mathcal{H}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}\} \eqqcolon \zeta$$

when *x* is regular. We obtain this bound by a direct covering argument. We will prove that for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and approximate square $Q_k(\gamma) = P(i, \underline{j})$, if $0 < r \leq \beta_{i,2}$, then

(4.6)
$$\#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset Q_k(\gamma)\} \lesssim \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},2}}{r}\right)^{\zeta}.$$

Assuming this, since x is regular, for any ball B(x, R), there is an $R' \leq R$ and at most two approximate squares $Q_1, Q_2 \in S(R')$ lying in the same column such that $B(x, R) \subset \pi(Q_1) \cup \pi(Q_2)$. Since Q_1, Q_2 lie in the same column, $Q_j = Q_{k_j}(\gamma_j)$ for some $k_j \in \mathbb{N}$ where $\eta(\gamma_j) = \eta(\gamma)$. Moreover, if $0 < r \leq R$ and $Q \in S(r)$ is arbitrary, then diam $\pi(Q) \leq r$. Thus (4.6) immediately gives the correct bound, up to a constant factor, for $N_r(B(x, R) \cap K)$.

It remains to prove (4.6). Fix an approximate square $Q_k(\gamma) = P(i, \underline{j})$ and suppose $0 < r \leq \beta_{i,2}$ is arbitrary. First, let

$$\mathcal{A}_0 = \eta^{-1}(\underline{\mathfrak{j}}) \wedge \mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma)}(r/eta_{\mathtt{i},2}) \qquad ext{and} \qquad \mathcal{A} = \{\mathtt{i}\mathtt{k} : \mathtt{k} \in \mathcal{A}_0\}.$$

We then decompose $A = A_1 \cup A_2$, where

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma)}(r)$$
 and $\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma)}(r).$

First, suppose $ik \in A_1$. Then, by definition, $\beta_{ik,2} > r$ which, by definition of A_0 , implies that $\eta(k) = \underline{j}$. Thus by Lemma 4.9 applied to the cylinder ik and scale r, since $\dim_B \eta(K) \leq \underline{\dim}_B K$ and $\beta_{ik,1} \approx \beta_{i,2}$,

(4.7)
$$\#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset [ik]\} \approx \left(\frac{\beta_{ik,2}}{r}\right)^{\dim_{B} K} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{k,2}}\right)^{\dim_{B} \eta(K)}$$

Otherwise, suppose $ik \in A_2 \subset \mathcal{F}_{\eta(\gamma)}(r)$. Since $A_0 \preccurlyeq \eta^{-1}(\underline{j})$, there is a \underline{j}' so that $\eta(k)\underline{j}' = \underline{j}$. Thus choice of \underline{j}' ensures that

$$P(\mathbf{ik},\mathbf{j}') = Q_k(\gamma) \cap [\mathbf{ik}].$$

Thus by Lemma 4.8 and since $Q_k(\gamma) = P(i, j)$ is an approximate square,

(4.8)
$$\#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset Q_k(\gamma) \cap [ik]\} = \#\mathcal{Q}(ik, \underline{j}' \approx \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{k,2}}\right)^{\dim_B \eta(K)}$$

Thus by applying (4.7) and (4.8) to the respective components and recalling that $\beta_{ik,2} \approx r$ whenever $ik \in A_2$,

$$\begin{split} \#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset Q_{k}(\gamma)\} \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{1}} \#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset [\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}]\} + \sum_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{2}} \#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset Q_{k}(\gamma) \cap [\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}]\} \\ &\approx \sum_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{1}} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k},2}}{r}\right)^{\dim_{\mathbf{B}}K} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{\mathbf{k},2}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathbf{B}}\eta(K)} + \sum_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{\mathbf{k},2}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathbf{B}}\eta(K)} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{1}} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k},2}}{r}\right)^{\zeta} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},2}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k},2}}\right)^{\zeta} \beta_{\mathbf{k},2}^{\dim_{\mathbf{A}}K_{\eta(\gamma)}} + \sum_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{2}} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},2}}{r}\right)^{\zeta} \beta_{\mathbf{k},2}^{\dim_{\mathbf{A}}K_{\eta(\gamma)}} \\ &= \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},2}}{r}\right)^{\zeta} \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{0}} \beta_{\mathbf{k},2}^{\dim_{\mathbf{A}}K_{\eta(\gamma)}} \\ &\lesssim \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},2}}{r}\right)^{\zeta} \end{split}$$

where the last line follows by Lemma 4.10 applied to the section A_0 . Thus (4.6) follows, and therefore our desired result.

4.5. Dimensions of level sets of pointwise Assouad dimension. Given an index $i \in \mathcal{I}$, let $\Phi_{\eta(i)}$ denote the IFS corresponding to the column containing the index *i*, that is

$$\Phi_{\eta(i)} = \{ S_{j,2} : j \in \mathcal{I} \text{ and } \eta(j) = \eta(i) \}.$$

Now given a word $\gamma = (i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \in \Omega$, recall that the symbolic slice $K_{\eta(\gamma)}$ is the non-autonomous self-similar set associated with the IFS $\{\Phi_{\eta(i_n)}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$. Since there are only finitely many choices for the $\Phi_{\eta(i_n)}$, the hypotheses of Theorem 3.7 are automatically satisfied and

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta_{\eta(\gamma)}(n, m)$$

where

$$\sum_{(j_1,\dots,j_m)\in\eta^{-1}(\eta(i_1,\dots,i_n))}\prod_{k=1}^m \beta_{j_k,2}^{\theta_{\eta(\gamma)}(n,m)} = 1.$$

We now obtain our main formula for the pointwise Assouad dimension of arbitrary points in Gatzouras–Lalley carpets.

Theorem 4.12. Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet. Then for every $x \in K$ with $x = \pi(\gamma)$, there is an $F \in \text{Tan}(K, x)$ with $\mathcal{H}^s(F) \gtrsim 1$ where

$$s := \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}$$
$$= \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta_{\eta(\gamma)}(n, m)$$

In particular,

$$\max\{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} F: F \in \operatorname{Tan}(K, x)\} \ge s \quad and \quad \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) \ge \max\{s, \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)\}$$

where both inequalities are equalities if x is regular. In particular, if $\eta(K)$ satisfies the strong separation condition then equality holds for all $x \in K$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.7, there is an $F \in Tan(K, x)$ so that

$$\mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}}(F) \gtrsim 1.$$

Moreover, $\dim_A K_{\eta(\gamma)} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta_{\eta(\gamma)}(n, m)$ by Theorem 3.7. The formula for $\dim_A(K, x)$, including the case when x is regular, then follows by Proposition 4.11.

If *x* is regular, it moreover follows from Proposition 4.6 that for any $F \in Tan(K, x)$, there is a similarity map *h* and a weak tangent $E \in Tan(K_{\eta(\gamma)})$ so that $h(F) \subset \eta(K) \times E$. Since $\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) = \dim_{\mathrm{H}} \eta(K)$,

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} F = \dim_{\mathrm{H}} h(F) \leq \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{H}} E \leq \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K_{\eta(\gamma)}$$

as required.

Finally, we recall that if $\eta(K)$ satisfies the strong separation condition, then each $x \in K$ is regular by Lemma 4.4 (i).

Our next goal is to prove that the set of pointwise Assouad dimensions forms an interval. The main observation required in the proof is a stability result for the expression $\theta_{\eta(\gamma)}(n, m)$ when m is large. In order to facilitate the proof, we establish some notation. First suppose $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\mathbf{i} \in \mathcal{I}^m$. Define $\phi_{\mathbf{i}} : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\phi_{\mathbf{i}}(s) = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{j} \in \mathcal{I}^n \\ \eta(\mathbf{j}) = \eta(\mathbf{i})}} \beta_{\mathbf{j},2}^s.$$

Since ϕ_i is strictly decreasing with $\phi_i(0) > 1$ and $\phi_i(1) < 1$, there is a unique t(i)so that $\phi_i(t(i)) = 1$. Note that $0 < s_{\min} \le t(i) \le s_{\max} < 1$ where $s_{\min} = \min\{t(i) : i \in \mathcal{I}\}$ and $s_{\max} = \max\{t(i) : i \in \mathcal{I}\}$. Of course, the function t is chosen precisely so that

$$\theta_{\eta(\gamma)}(n,m) = t(\gamma_{n+1},\ldots,\gamma_{n+m}).$$

We can now prove, essentially, that the set of fibre dimensions form an interval.

Lemma 4.13. Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet and suppose $\dim_{\mathrm{L}} K < \alpha < \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K$. Then for all $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there is $\mathbf{i}_n \in \mathcal{B}_{k_0}^n \subset \mathcal{I}^{k_0 n}$ satisfying

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(\mathbf{i}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{i}_{n+m}) = \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K).$$

Proof. Let $i \in \mathcal{I}^m$ and $j \in \mathcal{I}$ be arbitrary. We first show that |t(ij) - t(i)| converges to zero uniformly as m diverges to infinity. First, if $j \in \mathcal{I}$ is arbitrary, then

(4.9)
$$\phi_{ij}(t(i)) = \sum_{\substack{i \in \mathcal{I} \\ \eta(i) = \eta(j)}} \beta_{i,2}^{t(i)} \approx 1$$

On the other hand,

$$\phi_{\mathbf{i}j}(t(\mathbf{i}) + \epsilon) \le \phi_{\mathbf{i}j}(t(\mathbf{i})) \cdot (\min\{\beta_{i,2} : i \in \mathcal{I}\})^{m\epsilon}$$

so that, if $t(i) + \epsilon \ge t(ij)$, applying (4.9), we observe that $(\min\{\beta_{i,2} : i \in \mathcal{I}\})^{m\epsilon} \approx 1$ which forces $\epsilon \approx 1/m$. The same argument also holds for the lower bound. Iterating the above bound, we have therefore proven that for any $m, k \in \mathbb{N}$, $i \in \mathcal{I}^m$, and $j \in \mathcal{I}^k$,

$$(4.10) |t(ij) - t(i)| \lesssim \frac{k}{m}$$

We now proceed with our general construction. First, fixing any interior word $j \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and $i \in \mathcal{I}$ so that $\dim_A K = \dim_B \eta(K) + t(i)$,

$$\dim_{\mathbf{A}} K = \dim_{\mathbf{B}} \eta(K) + \lim_{k \to \infty} t(\mathbf{j}i^k);$$

and similarly for the lower dimension. Thus for all sufficiently large k_0 , there are words j_L , $j_A \in \mathcal{B}_{k_0}$ so that

$$\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + t(\mathbf{j}_L) < \alpha < \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + t(\mathbf{j}_A).$$

We inductively construct $(j_{L,k}, j_{A,k})_{k=1}^{\infty}$ so that, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

1.
$$\alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) - \frac{1}{k} \leq t(\mathbf{j}_{L,k}) \leq \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K),$$

2. $\alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) \leq t(\mathbf{j}_{A,k}) \leq \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K + \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \frac{1}{k},$
3. $\mathbf{j}_{L,k}, \mathbf{j}_{A,k} \in \mathcal{B}^*_{k_0}$ and, for $k \geq 2$, $\mathbf{j}_{L,k}, \mathbf{j}_{A,k} \in {\{\mathbf{j}_{L,k-1}, \mathbf{j}_{A,k-1}\}^*}$, and
4. $|\mathbf{j}_{L,k}| > k$ and $|\mathbf{j}_{A,k}| > k.$

First, set $j_{L,1} = j_L$ and $j_{A,1} = j_A$ which clearly satisfy the desired properties. Now suppose we have constructed $j_{L,k}$ and $j_{A,k}$. Since $t(j_{A,k}) \ge \alpha - \dim_B \eta(K)$, for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} t(\mathbf{j}_{L,k}^m \mathbf{j}_{A,k}^n) \ge \dim_{\mathbf{B}} \eta(K) - \alpha$$

Moreover, $t(\mathbf{j}_{L,k}^m) \leq \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) - \alpha$ and, by taking $m \geq k$ sufficiently large and applying (4.10), for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large,

$$|t(\mathbf{j}_{L,k}^{m}\mathbf{j}_{A,k}^{n+1}) - t(\mathbf{j}_{L,k}^{m}\mathbf{j}_{A,k}^{n})| \le \frac{1}{k+2} < \frac{1}{k+1}$$

Combining these two observations, there is a pair m, n so that $j_{A,k+1} \coloneqq j_{L,k}^m j_{A,k}^n \in \mathcal{B}_{k_0}^*$ satisfies conditions 1 and 4. The identical argument gives $j_{L,k+1} \in \mathcal{B}_{k_0}^*$ satisfying 2, as claimed.

To complete the proof, since $j_{L,k} \in \mathcal{B}_{k_0}^*$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we may identify the sequence $(j_{L,k})_{k=1}^{\infty}$ with a sequence $(i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ where $i_n \in \mathcal{B}_{k_0}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. It immediately follows from 4 that

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(\mathbf{i}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{i}_{n+m}) \ge \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K).$$

To establish the converse bound, it suffices to show for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ that

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(\mathbf{i}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{i}_{n+m}) \le \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \frac{1}{k}.$$

By 3, for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there is a $K \in \mathbb{N}$ so that for all $n \ge K$, $i_n \in \{j_{L,k}, j_{A,k}\}^*$. For each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, write $k_\ell = i_{K\ell+1} \cdots i_{K(\ell+1)}$ and note that $k_\ell \in \{j_{L,k}, j_{A,k}\}^*$ for all $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus for any $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$t(\mathbf{k}_{\ell+1}\cdots\mathbf{k}_{\ell+m}) \leq \frac{1}{m}\sum_{i=1}^{m}t(\mathbf{k}_{\ell+i}) \leq \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta(K) + \frac{1}{k}.$$

But by Lemma 3.4 and the subadditivity property of t established in Theorem 3.7,

$$\lim_{m\to\infty}\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}t(\mathbf{i}_{n+1}\cdots\mathbf{i}_{n+m})=\lim_{m\to\infty}\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}t(\mathbf{k}_{n+1}\cdots\mathbf{k}_{n+m})$$

which gives the claim.

To conclude this section, we assemble the results proven in the prior two sections to obtain our main result.

Theorem 4.14. Let K be a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet. Then for any $\dim_{B} K \leq \alpha \leq \dim_{A} K$,

(4.11)
$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{ x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) = \alpha \} = \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K.$$

Otherwise, if $\alpha \notin [\dim_{B} K, \dim_{A} K]$, then $\{x \in K : \dim_{A}(K, x) = \alpha\} = \emptyset$. However,

(4.12)
$$\mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K}(\{x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) \neq \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K\}) = 0.$$

Proof. Note that if $\dim_{B} K = \dim_{A} K$, then $\dim_{A}(K, x) = \dim_{A} K$ for all $x \in K$ and the results are clearly true. Thus we may assume that $\dim_{H} K < \dim_{B} K < \dim_{A} K$.

We first establish (4.11). Let $\epsilon > 0$ be arbitrary and $\dim_{\mathrm{B}} K \leq \alpha \leq \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K$. Apply Proposition 4.5 and get $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and a family $\mathcal{J} \subset \mathcal{B}_k$ with corresponding attractor K_{ϵ} satisfying $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K - \epsilon \leq \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K_{\epsilon} = \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K_{\epsilon}$ and $\dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) - \epsilon \leq \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K_{\epsilon})$. If $\alpha < \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K$, iterating the system if necessary, by Lemma 4.13 get a sequence $(\mathfrak{i}_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ with $\mathfrak{i}_n \in \mathcal{B}_k$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and moreover

(4.13)
$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(\mathbf{i}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{i}_{n+m}) = \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K).$$

If instead $\alpha = \dim_A K$, instead simply take $\mathbf{i}_n = i_0^k$ where $i_0 \in \mathcal{I}$ is any word such that $\dim_A K = \dim_B \eta(K) + t(i_0)$. Note that $t(\mathbf{j}) = \dim_A K_{\epsilon} - \dim_B \eta(K_{\epsilon})$ for any $\mathbf{j} \in \mathcal{J}$. Thus by taking ϵ to be sufficiently small, we may assume that $t(\mathbf{j}) \leq \alpha - \dim_B \eta(K)$ for all $\mathbf{j} \in \mathcal{J}$.

Now, let $(N_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of natural numbers satisfying $\lim_{k\to\infty} N_k/k = \infty$ and write

$$\Omega_0 = \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{J}^{N_k} \times \{\mathbf{i}_1\} \times \cdots \times \{\mathbf{i}_k\}.$$

By taking each N_k to be sufficiently large, we may ensure that $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \pi(\Omega_0) \geq \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K_{\epsilon} - \epsilon$. Fix $\gamma \in \Omega_0$: it remains to verify that $\dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, \pi(\gamma)) = \alpha$. Since $\gamma \in \mathcal{B}_k^{\mathbb{N}}$, $\pi(\gamma)$ is a regular point of K by Lemma 4.4 (ii). By passing to the subsystem induced by $\mathcal{B}_k \subset \mathcal{I}^k$, write $\gamma = (\Bbbk_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$ where $\Bbbk_k \in \mathcal{B}_k$. Thus by Theorem 4.12 and Lemma 3.4,

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) = \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{B}} K, \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(\mathbf{k}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{k}_{n+m})\}.$$

Since $i_1 \cdots i_m$ appears as a subword of γ for arbitrarily large m, by (4.13) and since $\alpha > \dim_B K$, it follows that $\dim_A(K, x) \ge \alpha$.

We now obtain the upper bound. Let $\epsilon > 0$ be arbitrary. By (4.13), there is an $\ell_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ so that whenever $\ell \ge \ell_0$, we have $t(\mathbf{i}_{j+1}\cdots\mathbf{i}_{j+\ell}) \le \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \epsilon$. Let m be sufficiently large so that $\ell_0/m \le \epsilon$. Since $\lim_{k\to\infty} N_k/k = \infty$, for all n sufficiently large, there is a $j \in \mathbb{N}$ so that

$$\mathbf{k}_{n+1}\cdots\mathbf{k}_{n+m}=\mathbf{j}_1\cdots\mathbf{j}_{m-\ell}\mathbf{i}_{j+1}\cdots\mathbf{i}_{j+\ell}.$$

Thus for *m*, *n* sufficiently large, if $\ell \geq \ell_0$,

$$t(\mathbf{k}_{n+1}\cdots\mathbf{k}_{n+m}) \leq \frac{(m-\ell)\cdot t(\mathbf{j}_{1}\cdots\mathbf{j}_{m-\ell}) + \ell\cdot t(\mathbf{i}_{j+1}\cdots\mathbf{i}_{j+\ell})}{m}$$
$$\leq \frac{m-\ell}{m}\cdot(\alpha-\dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta(K)) + \frac{\ell}{m}(\alpha-\dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta(K) + \epsilon)$$

$$\leq \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \epsilon$$

and similarly if $\ell < \ell_0$, recalling that $t(i_{j+1} \cdots i_{j+\ell}) \leq 1$,

$$t(\mathbf{k}_{n+1}\cdots\mathbf{k}_{n+m}) \le \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta(K) + \frac{\ell_0}{m} \le \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta(K) + \epsilon.$$

Therefore

$$\limsup_{m \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} t(\mathbf{k}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{k}_{n+m}) \le \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K) + \epsilon$$

and since $\epsilon > 0$ was arbitrary,

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(\mathbf{k}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{k}_{n+m}) = \limsup_{m \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} t(\mathbf{k}_{n+1} \cdots \mathbf{k}_{n+m}) \le \alpha - \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta(K)$$

so that $\dim_A(K, x) \leq \alpha$, as claimed. Of course, we recall as well that $\dim_B K \leq \dim_A(K, x) \leq \dim_A K$ by Proposition 2.13.

We finally consider the points x such that $\dim_A(K, x) < \dim_A K$. Let $i_0 \in \mathcal{I}$ be such that $\dim_A K = \dim_B \eta(K) + t(i_0)$. Let

$$\mathcal{J}_M \coloneqq \{(i_1, \dots, i_M) \in \mathcal{I}^M : (i_1, \dots, i_M) \neq (i_0, \dots, i_0)\}$$

have attractor $K_M \subset K$. Since \mathcal{J}_M is a proper subsystem, $\dim_H K_M < \dim_H K$ so that $\mathcal{H}^{\dim_H K}(K_M) = 0$. Now let $x \in K$ have $\dim_A(K, x) < \dim_A K$. Suppose $x = \pi(\gamma)$ where $\gamma = (i_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$, so that

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K,x) \ge \max\left\{\dim_{\mathcal{B}} K, \dim_{\mathcal{B}} \eta(K) + \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(i_{n+1}, \dots, i_{n+m})\right\}.$$

Since $\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) < \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K$,

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} t(i_{n+1}, \dots, i_{n+m}) < t(i_0).$$

In particular, there is a constant M so that γ does not contain i_0^M as a subword. Thus $x \in K_M$ for some M and therefore

$$\mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K}\left(\left\{x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) < \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K\right\}\right) \le \sum_{M=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}^{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K}(K_{M}) = 0$$

 \square

as required.

Remark 4.15. We recall that if *K* is a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet, then $\mathcal{H}^{\dim_H K}(K) > 0$, with $\mathcal{H}^{\dim_H K}(K) < \infty$ if and only if *K* is Ahlfors regular; see [LG92]. In particular, the positivity of the Hausdorff measure guarantees that the claim (4.12) in Theorem 4.14 is not vacuous; and, if the Hausdorff measure is finite, Theorem 4.14 is trivial.

5. TANGENT STRUCTURE AND DIMENSION OF BARAŃSKI CARPETS

5.1. Dimensions and decompositions of Barański carpets. Recall the definition of the Barański carpet and basic notation from §4.1. Suppose *K* is a Barański carpet and $\gamma \in \Omega$ is arbitrary. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we define a probability vector $\boldsymbol{\xi}_k(\gamma)$ by the rule

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}_k(\gamma)_i = \frac{\#\{1 \le \ell \le k : \gamma_\ell = i\}}{k} \quad \text{for each } i \in \mathcal{I}.$$

In other words, $\boldsymbol{\xi}_k(\gamma)$ is the distribution of the letter frequencies in the first *k* letters of γ . We then define

$$\Gamma_k(\gamma) = \frac{\chi_1(\boldsymbol{\xi}_k(\gamma))}{\chi_2(\boldsymbol{\xi}_k(\gamma))}.$$

The function Γ_k induces a partition $\Omega = \Omega_0 \cup \Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$ by

$$\Omega_{0} = \{ \gamma : \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Gamma_{k}(\gamma) \leq 1 \leq \limsup_{k \to \infty} \Gamma_{k}(\gamma) \}$$

$$\Omega_{1} = \{ \gamma : \limsup_{k \to \infty} \Gamma_{k}(\gamma) < 1 \}$$

$$\Omega_{2} = \{ \gamma : 1 < \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Gamma_{k}(\gamma) \}.$$

We now recall the dimensional formula for a general Barański carpet. First, we decompose $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}_1 \cup \mathcal{P}_2$ where

$$\mathcal{P}_j = \{ \boldsymbol{w} \in \mathcal{P} : \chi_j(\boldsymbol{w}) \le \chi_{j'}(\boldsymbol{w}) \}.$$

Now given a measure $w \in \mathcal{P}_j$, recall [Bar07, Corollary 5.2] which states that

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \pi_* \boldsymbol{w}^{\mathbb{N}} = \frac{H(\eta_j(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_j(\boldsymbol{w})} + \frac{H(\boldsymbol{w}) - H(\eta_j(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_{j'}(\boldsymbol{w})}$$

Here and for the remainder of this document, for notational simplicity, given j = 1 we write j' = 2 and given j = 2 we write j' = 1.

We also introduce some notation for symbolic slices both in the horizontal and vertical directions. Given $\gamma \in \Omega$ and $j \in 1, 2$, let $\theta_{\eta_j(\gamma),j}$ be defined by the rule

$$\sum_{(j_1,\dots,j_m)\in\eta_j^{-1}(\eta_j(i_1,\dots,i_n))}\prod_{k=1}^m \beta_{j_k,j}^{\theta_{\eta_j(\gamma),j}(n,m)} = 1.$$

The value $\theta_{\eta(\gamma)} = \theta_{\eta_1(\gamma),1}$ was defined previously in the context of a Gatzouras– Lalley carpet. As is the case with a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet, if we denote by $K_{\eta_j(\gamma),j}$ the non-autonomous self-similar set associated with the non-autonomous self-similar IFS $\{S_{i,j} : i \in \eta^{-1}(\eta(\gamma_k))\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$, then

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta_j(\gamma),j} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta_{\eta_j(\gamma),j}(n,m).$$

Assuming $\eta_1(K)$ (resp. $\eta_2(K)$) satisfies the SSC, then $K_{\eta_1(\gamma),1}$ (resp. $K_{\eta_2(\gamma),2}$) is precisely the intersection of K with the vertical (resp. horizontal) line containing $x = \pi(\gamma)$. We now recall [Fra14, Theorem 2.12] concerning the Assouad dimension and the main result of [Bar07] on the Hausdorff dimensions of Barański carpets. While this result is not stated explicitly, the relevant details can be obtained directly by inspecting the proof.

Proposition 5.1 ([Bar07; Fra14]). Let K be a Barański carpet such that $\Omega_1 \neq \emptyset$ and $\Omega_2 \neq \emptyset$. Then:

(*i*) For each j = 1, 2,

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \pi(\Omega_0 \cup \Omega_j) \le d_j$$

where

$$d_j = \max_{\boldsymbol{w} \in \mathcal{P}_j} \left(\frac{H(\eta_j(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_j(\boldsymbol{w})} + \frac{H(\boldsymbol{w}) - H(\eta_j(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_{j'}(\boldsymbol{w})} \right).$$

In particular, $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K = \max\{d_1, d_2\}$. (ii) We have

$$\dim_{\mathbf{A}} K = \dim_{\mathbf{B}} \eta(K) + \max_{j=1,2} \{t_j\}$$

where

$$t_j = \max_{\underline{\ell} \in \eta_j(\mathcal{I})} t_j(\underline{\ell})$$

and $t_i(\underline{\ell})$ is the unique solution to the equation

$$\sum_{j\in\eta_i^{-1}(\underline{\ell})}\beta_{j,2}^{t_j(\ell)} = 1.$$

5.2. Pointwise Assouad dimension along uniformly contracting sequences. In this section, we state a generalization of our results on Gatzouras–Lalley carpets to Barański carpets, with the caveat that we restrict our attention to points coded by sequences which contract uniformly in one direction. The arguments are similar to the Gatzouras–Lalley case so we only include detail when the proofs diverge. Handling more general sequences would result in a more complicated formula for the pointwise Assouad dimension depending on the scales at which the contraction ratio is greater in one direction than the other, which we will not treat here.

We begin by defining the analogues of pseudo-cylinders and approximate squares. Fix j = 1, 2. Suppose $i \in \mathcal{I}^k$ and $j \in \eta_j(\mathcal{I}^\ell)$. We then write

$$P_j(i, j) = \{ \gamma = (i_n)_{n=1}^\infty \in \Omega : (i_1, \dots, i_k) = i \text{ and } \eta(i_{k+1}, \dots, i_{k+l}) = j \}.$$

Now let $\gamma \in \Omega$ be arbitrary and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Let j be chosen so that $\beta_{\gamma \uparrow_k, j} \ge \beta_{\gamma \uparrow_k, j'}$. We then let $L_k(\gamma) \ge k$ be the minimal integer so that

$$\beta_{\gamma|_{L_{k,j}(\gamma)},j} < \beta_{\gamma|_k,j'}.$$

Write $\gamma |_{L_{k,j}(\gamma)} = ij$ and define the approximate square

$$Q_k(\gamma) = P_j(\mathbf{i}, \eta_j(\mathbf{j})).$$

Finally, we call a pseudo-cylinder *wide* if $P_j(i, \underline{j})$ contains an approximate square $P_j(i, \underline{k})$; otherwise, we call the pseudo-cylinder *tall*.

In the case when the Barański carpet is in fact a Gatzouras–Lalley carpet, these definitions with j = 1 coincide with the definitions in the Gatzouras–Lalley case.

Next, the collection of approximate squares forms a metric tree when equipped with the valuation $\rho(P_j(i, \eta_j(j))) = \beta_{i,j'}$. Note that for each approximate square Q, there is a unique choice for j except precisely when $\beta_{\gamma \uparrow_k, j} = \beta_{\gamma \uparrow_k, j'}$, so indeed ρ is well-defined.

Similarly as in the Gatzouras–Lalley case, given a pseudo-cylinder $P_j(i, \underline{j})$, we write

 $Q_j(i, \underline{j}) = \max\{A : A \text{ is a section of } S \text{ relative to } P_j(i, \underline{j})\}$

where S is the collection of all approximate squares and the maximum is with respect to the partial ordering on sections. That the maximum always exists follows from the properties of the meet. In the case when the pseudo-cylinder is wide, this coincides precisely with the definition in the Gatzouras–Lalley case.

However, unlike in the Gatzouras–Lalley case, we will also have to handle tall pseudo-cylinders, which have a more complex structure. This additional structure is handled in the following covering lemma.

Lemma 5.2. (*i*) Let $P_j(i, j)$ be a wide pseudo-cylinder. Then

$$\#\mathcal{Q}_{j}(\mathbf{i},\underline{\mathbf{j}}) \approx \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{\mathbf{j}},j}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i},j'}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta_{j}(K)}$$

(ii) Let $P_j(i, j)$ be a tall pseudo-cylinder. Then

$$\#\mathcal{Q}_{j}(\mathbf{i},\underline{\mathbf{j}}) \lesssim \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},j'}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{\mathbf{j}},j}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta_{j'}(K)}$$

(iii) Let $\epsilon > 0$ be arbitrary. Suppose $i \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and let j be chosen so that $\beta_{i,j'} \leq \beta_{i,j}$. Let $0 < r \leq \beta_{i,j}$. Then

$$\#\{Q \in \mathcal{S}(r) : Q \subset [\mathbf{i}]\} \lesssim_{\epsilon} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},j'}}{r}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}}K+\epsilon} \cdot \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},j}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i},j'}}\right)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}}\eta_{j}(K)}$$

(iv) Let $\epsilon > 0$ and $\gamma \in \Omega$ be arbitrary. Suppose $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and j = 1, 2 are such that $Q_k(\gamma) = P_j(i, j)$. Let \mathcal{A} be any section of \mathcal{I}^* satisfying $\mathcal{A} \preccurlyeq \eta_j^{-1}(j)$. Then

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}}\beta_{\mathbf{k},j'}^{\dim_{\mathbf{A}}K_{\eta_{j}(\gamma),j}+\epsilon} \lesssim_{\epsilon,\gamma} 1.$$

Proof. The proof of (i) is identical to the proof given in Lemma 4.8 and similarly the proof of (iv) is identical to that of Lemma 4.10.

We now prove (ii). In order to do this, we must understand the structure of the pseudo-cylinder $P_j(i, \underline{j})$. Heuristically, when (for instance) j = 1, $P_j(i, \underline{j})$ is a union of cylinders which fall into one of two types: those which are tall, and those which are wide. If a cylinder is tall, we apply (i) in the opposite direction to cover it with approximate squares, and if a cylinder is wide, we group nearby cylinders together to form approximate squares. We then combine these counts using the slice dimension t_j , which is bounded above by $\dim_B \eta_{j'}(K)$.

Write $\mathcal{A} = \eta_j^{-1}(j)$ and partition $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_1 \cup \mathcal{A}_2$ where

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = \{ k \in \mathcal{A} : \beta_{ik,j'} \ge \beta_{ij,j} \}$$
 and $\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{A}_1.$

First, for $k \in A_1$, note that $P_{i'}(ik, \emptyset)$ is a wide pseudo-cylinder and we set

$$\mathcal{B}_1 = igcup_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_1} \mathcal{Q}_{j'}(\mathtt{ik}, arnothing).$$

By applying (i), since $\beta_{ik,j} \approx \beta_{ij,j}$,

(5.1)
$$\#\mathcal{B}_1 = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_1} \#\mathcal{Q}_{j'}(\mathbf{ik},\varnothing) \approx \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_1} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{ik},j'}}{\beta_{\mathbf{ij},j}}\right)^{\dim_B \eta_{j'}(K)}$$

Otherwise if $k \in A_2$, let $l_1(k)$ denote the prefix of k of maximal length so that $\beta_{il_1(k),j'} \ge \beta_{ij,j}$. Writing $k = l_1(k)l_2(k)$, this choice guarantees that

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathtt{k}) \coloneqq P_j(\mathtt{il}_1(\mathtt{k}), \eta_j(\mathtt{l}_2(\mathtt{k})))$$

is the unique approximate square contained in [i] containing [ik]. Finally, let

$$\mathcal{A}_2' = \{l_1(k) : k \in \mathcal{A}_2\}$$
 and $\mathcal{B}_2 = \{\mathcal{B}(k) : k \in \mathcal{A}_2\}.$

We then note that, since $\beta_{il,j'} \approx \beta_{ij,j}$ by the choice of $l_1(k)$,

(5.2)
$$\#\mathcal{B}_2 \approx \sum_{\mathbf{i}\in\mathcal{A}_2'} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{1},j'}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{j},j}}\right)^{\dim_B \eta_{j'}(K)}$$

To conclude, observe that $Q_j(i, j) = B_1 \cup B_2$ and applying (5.1) and (5.2),

$$\#\mathcal{Q}_j(\mathtt{i},\mathtt{j})=\#\mathcal{B}_1+\#\mathcal{B}_2$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{1}} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k},j'}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{j},j}} \right)^{\dim_{B}\eta_{j'}(K)} + \sum_{\mathbf{l}\in\mathcal{A}_{2}'} \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{1},j'}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{j},j}} \right)^{\dim_{B}\eta_{j'}(K)}$$

$$= \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},j'}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{j},j}} \right)^{\dim_{B}\eta_{j'}(K)} \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_{1}\cup\mathcal{A}_{2}'} \beta_{\mathbf{k},j'}^{\dim_{B}\eta_{j'}(K)}$$

$$\le \left(\frac{\beta_{\mathbf{i},j'}}{\beta_{\mathbf{i}\underline{j},j}} \right)^{\dim_{B}\eta_{j'}(K)}$$

where the last line follows since $\mathcal{A}_1 \cup \mathcal{A}'_2 \preccurlyeq \eta_j^{-1}(\underline{j})$ is a section and $\dim_B \eta_{j'}(K) \ge t_j(\underline{j})$ where

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathcal{A}_1\cup\mathcal{A}_2'}\beta_{\mathbf{k},j'}^{t_j(\underline{\mathbf{j}})}=1$$

Finally, we combine the bounds given in (i) and (ii) with a similar argument to the proof of Lemma 4.9 to obtain (iii). Let $\epsilon > 0$ be arbitrary and fix $i \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and j = 0, 1 so that $0 < r \leq \beta_{i,j'} \leq \beta_{i,j}$. Write $\delta = r/\beta_{i,j'}$ so, recalling the proof of [Bar07, Theorem B],

$$#\mathcal{S}(\delta) \lesssim_{\epsilon} (1/\delta)^{\dim_{\mathrm{B}} K + \epsilon}.$$

Now enumerate

$$\mathcal{S}(\delta) = \{Q_{1,j}, \dots, Q_{m_j,j}\} \cup \{Q_{1,j'}, \dots, Q_{m_{j'},j'}\}$$

where for each z = j, j' and $1 \le i \le m_z$,

$$Q_{i,z} = P_z(\mathbf{j}_{i,z}, \underline{\mathbf{k}}_{i,z})$$

for some $j_{i,z} \in \mathcal{I}^*$ and $\underline{\mathbf{k}}_{i,z} \in \eta_z(\mathcal{I}^*)$. Observe that each $P_z(ij_{i,z}, \underline{\mathbf{k}}_{i,z})$ is a wide pseudo-cylinder if z = j and a tall pseudo-cylinder if z = j'. Thus we may complete the proof in the same way as Lemma 4.9, by applying (i) to the wide pseudo-cylinders and (ii) to the tall pseudo-cylinders.

We can now prove the following formulas for the pointwise Assouad dimension.

Proposition 5.3. Let K be a Barański carpet. Then for each j = 1, 2, if $\eta_j(K)$ satisfies the SSC, for all $\gamma \in \Omega_j$ and $x = \pi(\gamma)$,

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) = \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{B}} K, \dim_{\mathcal{B}} \eta_j(K) + \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta_j(\gamma), j}\}$$

and

$$\max\{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} F : F \in \mathrm{Tan}(K, x)\} = \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta_j(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K_{\eta_j(\gamma), j}.$$

Furthermore,

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta_j(\gamma),j} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta_{\eta_j(\gamma),j}(n,m) \le \max_{\underline{\ell} \in \eta_j(\mathcal{I})} t_j(\underline{\ell}).$$

Proof. If $\gamma \in \Omega_i$, by definition there is a constant $\kappa \in (0, 1)$ so that

$$\frac{\beta_{\gamma\restriction_k,j'}}{\beta_{\gamma\restriction_k,j}}\lesssim \kappa^n$$

In particular, there is a constant $\kappa' \in (0,1)$ so that each maximal cylinder [i] contained in $Q_k(\gamma)$ has $\beta_{i,j'}/\beta_{i,j} \leq (\kappa')^k$, which converges to zero. Thus the same proof as given in Proposition 4.11 but instead applying Lemma 5.2 in place of the analogous bounds for Gatzouras–Lalley carpets gives that

$$\dim_{\mathcal{A}}(K, x) \leq \max\{\dim_{\mathcal{B}} K, \dim_{\mathcal{B}} \eta_{i}(K) + \dim_{\mathcal{A}} K_{\eta_{i}(\gamma), i}\}.$$

Similarly, the same proof as Proposition 4.7 shows that

$$\max\{\dim_{\mathrm{H}} F: F \in \mathrm{Tan}(K, x)\} = \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta_{j}(K) + \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K_{\eta_{j}(\gamma), j}$$

Finally, using the same subadditivity properties of $\theta_{\eta(\gamma),j}(n,m)$ established at the beginning of the proof of Theorem 3.7,

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \theta_{\eta_j(\gamma), j}(n, m) \le \max_{\underline{\ell} \in \eta_j(\mathcal{I})} t_j(\underline{\ell}).$$

as required.

5.3. Barański carpets with few large tangents. In contrast to Gatzouras–Lalley carpets, the analogue of Theorem 4.14 need not hold for Barański carpets. We first give a precise characterization of when a Barański carpet has few large tangents. Fix the definitions of t_i and d_j from Proposition 5.1.

Theorem 5.4. Let *K* be a Barański carpet such that $\eta_j(K)$ satisfies the SSC and $\Omega_j \neq \emptyset$ for j = 1, 2. Suppose for one of $j = 1, 2, d_j < d_{j'}$ and $\dim_B \eta_j(K) + t_j > \dim_B \eta_{j'}(K) + t_{j'}$. Then

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{ x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) = \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K \} < \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K.$$

Proof. Suppose $d_1 < d_2$ and $\dim_B \eta_1(K) + t_1 > \dim_B \eta_2(K) + t_2$ (the opposite case follows analogously). By Proposition 5.1, $\dim_H K = d_2$ and $\dim_A K = \dim_B \eta_1(K) + t_1$. In particular, by Proposition 5.3, if $\dim_A(K, x) = \dim_A K = \dim_B \eta_1(K) + t_1$, then necessarily $x = \pi(\gamma)$ where $\gamma \in \Omega_0 \cup \Omega_1$. But $\dim_H \pi(\Omega_0 \cup \Omega_1) = d_1 < d_2 = \dim_H K$, as required.

Remark 5.5. In the context of Theorem 5.4, one can in fact prove that the following are equivalent:

(i) $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) = \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K\} < \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K.$

(ii) $\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{x \in K : \exists F \in \mathrm{Tan}(K, x) \text{ such that } \dim_{\mathrm{H}} F = \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K \} < \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K.$

(iii) For one of $j = 1, 2, d_j < d_{j'}$ and $\dim_B \eta_j(K) + t_j > \dim_B \eta_{j'}(K) + t_{j'}$.

Such a proof follows similarly to the Gatzouras–Lalley case with appropriate modifications to restrict attention only to the family Ω_1 or Ω_2 . The only additional observation required is that [FJS10, Lemma 4.3] also holds in the Barański case

and the uniform subsystem can be chosen so the maps are contracting strictly in direction j and the dimension of the corresponding attractor is arbitrarily close to d_j .

In particular, if one of the above equivalent conditions hold and without loss of generality $d_1 > d_2$ and $\dim_B \eta_1(K) + t_1 < \dim_B \eta_2(K) + t_2$, then the Hausdorff dimension of the level set $\varphi(\alpha) = \dim_H \{x \in K : \dim_A(K, x) = \alpha\}$ is given by the piecewise formula

$$\varphi(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K &: \dim_{\mathrm{B}} K \leq \alpha \leq \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta_{1}(K) + t_{1} \\ d_{2} &: \dim_{\mathrm{B}} \eta_{1}(K) + t_{1} < \alpha \leq \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K. \end{cases}$$

We leave the remaining details to the curious reader.

With Theorem 5.4 in hand, we can now give an explicit example of a Barański carpet which has few large tangents.

Corollary 5.6. *There is a Barański carpet K such that*

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} \{ x \in K : \dim_{\mathrm{A}}(K, x) = \dim_{\mathrm{A}} K \} < \dim_{\mathrm{H}} K .$$

Proof. Fix some $\delta \in [0, 1/6)$ and define parameters $\beta = 1/4 - \delta$, $\alpha_1 = 1/3 - \delta$, and $\alpha_2 = 1/6 - \delta$. Now define the families of maps

$$\Phi_{1} = \{(x, y) \mapsto (\alpha_{1}x, \beta y + i\beta) : i = 0, \dots, 3\}$$

$$\Phi_{2,a} = \{(x, y) \mapsto (\alpha_{2}x + \alpha_{1} + j\alpha_{2}, \beta y + i\beta) : j = 0, 1 \text{ and } i = 0, 1\}$$

$$\Phi_{2,b} = \{(x, y) \mapsto (\alpha_{2}x + \alpha_{1} + j\alpha_{2}, \beta y + i\beta) : j = 3, 4 \text{ and } i = 2, 3\}$$

and then set

$$\Phi_2 = \Phi_{2,a} \cup \Phi_{2,b}$$
 and $\Phi = \Phi_1 \cup \Phi_{2,a} \cup \Phi_{2,b}$

We abuse notation and use functions and indices interchangeably. Now Φ is a Barański IFS with three columns corresponding to Φ_1 , $\Phi_{2,a}$, and $\Phi_{2,b}$. This carpet is conjugate to the carpet generated by the maps depicted in Figure 2b. Note that if $\delta > 0$, both projected IFSs satisfy the SSC.

We now simplify the dimensional expression in Proposition 5.1 (ii) for our specific system. First, for $w \in \mathcal{P}$, set $p = \sum_{i \in \Phi_2} w_i$. Note that $\chi_1(w) = -p \log \alpha_2 - (1-p) \log \alpha_1$ and $\chi_2(w) = -\log \beta$ depend only on p. But since entropy and projected entropy are maximized uniquely by uniform vectors, defining the vector $\boldsymbol{z}(p) \in \mathcal{P}$ by

$$\boldsymbol{z}(p)_i = \begin{cases} \frac{1-p}{4} : i \in \Phi_1\\ \frac{p}{8} : i \in \Phi_2 \end{cases}$$

we necessarily have

$$\frac{H(\eta_1(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_1(\boldsymbol{w})} + \frac{H(\boldsymbol{w}) - H(\eta_1(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_2(\boldsymbol{w})} \le \frac{H(\eta_1(\boldsymbol{z}(p)))}{\chi_1(\boldsymbol{z}(p))} + \frac{H(\boldsymbol{z}(p)) - H(\eta_1(\boldsymbol{z}(p)))}{\chi_2(\boldsymbol{z}(p))}$$

$$= \frac{-p \log p - (1-p) \log(1-p)}{-p \log \alpha_2 - (1-p) \log \alpha_1}$$

=: $D_1(p)$

and

$$\frac{H(\eta_2(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_2(\boldsymbol{w})} + \frac{H(\boldsymbol{w}) - H(\eta_2(\boldsymbol{w}))}{\chi_1(\boldsymbol{w})} \le \frac{H(\eta_2(\boldsymbol{z}(p)))}{\chi_2(\boldsymbol{z}(p))} + \frac{H(\boldsymbol{z}(p)) - H(\eta_2(\boldsymbol{z}(p)))}{\chi_1(\boldsymbol{z}(p))}$$
$$= \frac{\log 4}{-\log \beta} + \frac{-p\log p - (1-p)\log(1-p) - \log 4}{-p\log \alpha_2 - (1-p)\log \alpha_1}$$
$$=: D_2(p).$$

Moreover, writing $p_0 = \frac{\log \alpha_1 - \log \beta}{\log \alpha_1 - \log \alpha_2}$, $\boldsymbol{z}(p) \in \mathcal{P}_1$ if and only if $p \in [0, p_0]$ and $\boldsymbol{z}(p) \in \mathcal{P}_2$ if and only if $p \in [p_0, 1]$. We thus observe that

$$\dim_{\mathrm{H}} K = \sup_{p \in [0,1]} D(p) \quad \text{where} \quad D(p) = \begin{cases} D_1(p) & : 0 \le p \le p_0 \\ D_2(p) & : p_0 \le p \le 1 \end{cases}$$

Now, a manual computation directly shows that, substituting $\delta = 0$,

$$\sup_{p \in [0,1]} D_1(p) \approx 0.489536 \quad \text{and} \quad \sup_{p \in [0,1]} D_2(p) \approx 0.529533$$

and moreover the maximum of $D_2(p)$ is attained at a value $p_2 \in (p_0, 1)$. Thus for all δ sufficiently close to 0, since all the respective quantities are continuous functions of δ , there is a value $p_2 \in (p_0, 1)$ so that

$$d_1 \le \sup_{p \in [0,1]} D_1(p) < \sup_{p \in [0,1]} D(p) = D_2(p_2) = d_2.$$

(In fact, one can show that this is the case for all $\delta \in (0, 1/6)$, but this is not required for the proof.)

On the other hand, when $\delta = 0$, $t_1 = 2$ whereas $t_2 = 1 + s < 2$ where $s \approx 0.72263$ is the unique solution to

$$\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)^s + 2 \cdot \left(\frac{1}{6}\right)^s = 1.$$

Thus for all δ sufficiently close to 0, the conditions for Theorem 5.4 are satisfied, as required.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Roope Anttila for interesting discussions around the topics in this document. They also thank Amlan Banaji for some comments on a draft version of this document. AR was supported by EPSRC Grant EP/V520123/1 and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada. This project began while AR visited AK at the University of Oulu, which was funded by a scholarship from the London Math Society and the Cecil King Foundation. He thanks the various members of the department for their hospitality during the visit.

References

[AKT20]	J. Angelevska, A. Käenmäki, and S. Troscheit. <i>Self-conformal sets with positive Hausdorff measure</i> . Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 52 (2020), 200–223. zbl:1441.28003.
[Ant22+]	R. Anttila. <i>Pointwise Assouad dimension for measures</i> . To appear in: Proc. R. Soc. Edinb. A: Math. doi:10.1017/prm.2022.83.
[Ass77]	P. Assouad. <i>Espaces métriques, plongements, facteurs</i> . French. Thèse de doctorat d'État. Orsay: Univ. Paris XI, 1977. zbl:0396.46035.
[BRT23+]	A. Banaji, A. Rutar, and S. Troscheit. <i>Interpolating with generalized Assouad dimensions</i> . Preprint. arxiv:2308.12975.
[Bar07]	K. Barański. <i>Hausdorff dimension of the limit sets of some planar geometric constructions</i> . Adv. Math. 210 (2007), 215–245. zbl:1116.28008.
[BKR21]	B. Bárány, A. Käenmäki, and E. Rossi. <i>Assouad dimension of planar self-affine sets</i> . Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 374 (2021), 1297–1326. zbl:1455.28005.
[BP17]	C. J. Bishop and Y. Peres. <i>Fractals in probability and analysis</i> . Vol. 162. Cambridge University Press, 2017. zbl:1390.28012.
[Fal89]	K. J. Falconer. <i>Dimensions and measures of quasi self-similar sets</i> . Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 106 (1989), 543–554. zbl:0683.58034.
[Fal90]	K. Falconer. <i>Fractal geometry: mathematical foundations and applications</i> . John Wiley & Sons, 1990. zbl:0689.28003.
[FJS10]	A. Ferguson, T. Jordan, and P. Shmerkin. <i>The Hausdorff dimension of the projections of self-affine carpets</i> . Fund. Math. 209 (2010), 193–213. zbl:1206.28011.
[FHO+15]	J. M. Fraser, A. M. Henderson, E. J. Olson, and J. C. Robinson. <i>On the Assouad dimension of self-similar sets with overlaps</i> . Adv. Math. 273 (2015), 188–214. zbl:1317.28014.
[Fra14]	J. M. Fraser. <i>Assouad type dimensions and homogeneity of fractals</i> . Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 366 (2014), 6687–6733. zbl:1305.28021.
[Fra20]	J. M. Fraser. <i>Assouad dimension and fractal geometry</i> . Vol. 222. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2020. zbl:1467.28001.
[Fra21]	J. M. Fraser. <i>Interpolating between dimensions</i> . In: "Fractal geometry and stochastics VI". Cham: Birkhäuser, 2021, 3–24. zbl:1462.28007.
[FHK+19]	J. M. Fraser, D. C. Howroyd, A. Käenmäki, and H. Yu. <i>On the Hausdorff dimension of microsets</i> . Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 147 (2019), 4921–4936. zbl:1428.28013.
[FR22+]	J. M. Fraser and A. Rutar. <i>Assouad-type dimensions of overlapping self-affine sets</i> . Preprint . arxiv:2209.13952.
[FY18]	J. M. Fraser and H. Yu. <i>New dimension spectra: finer information on scaling and homogeneity</i> . Adv. Math. 329 (2018), 273–328. zbl:1390.28019.
[GHM21]	I. García, K. E. Hare, and F. Mendivil. <i>Intermediate Assouad-like dimensions</i> . J. Fractal Geom. 8 (2021), 201–245. zbl:1485.28006.

[HS12]	M. Hochman and P. Shmerkin. <i>Local entropy averages and projections of fractal measures</i> . Ann. Math. 175 (2012), 1001–1059. zbl:1251.28008.
[HS15]	M. Hochman and P. Shmerkin. <i>Equidistribution from fractal measures</i> . Invent. Math. 202 (2015), 427–479. zbl:1409.11054.
[KOR17]	A. Käenmäki, T. Ojala, and E. Rossi. <i>Rigidity of quasisymmetric mappings on self-affine carpets</i> . Int. Math. Res. Not. 2018 (2017), 3769–3799. doi:10.1093/imrn/rnw336.
[KR16]	A. Käenmäki and E. Rossi. <i>Weak separation condition, Assouad dimension, and Furstenberg homogeneity</i> . Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 41 (2016), 465–490. zbl:1342.28016.
[KSS15]	A. Käenmäki, T. Sahlsten, and P. Shmerkin. <i>Dynamics of the scenery flow and geometry of measures</i> . Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 110 (2015), 1248–1280. zbl:1318.28026.
[LG92]	S. P. Lalley and D. Gatzouras. <i>Hausdorff and box dimensions of certain self-affine fractals</i> . Indiana Univ. Math. J. 41 (1992), 533–568. zbl:0757.28011.
[LR15]	E. Le Donne and T. Rajala. <i>Assouad dimension, Nagata dimension, and uniformly close metric tangents</i> . Indiana Univ. Math. J. 64 (2015), 21–54. zbl:1321.54059.
[Mac11]	J. M. Mackay. <i>Assouad dimension of self-affine carpets</i> . Conform. Geom. Dyn. 15 (2011) , 177–187. zbl:1278.37032.
[MT10]	J. M. Mackay and J. T. Tyson. <i>Conformal dimension</i> . Vol. 54. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 2010. zbl:1201.30002.
[Mat95]	P. Mattila. <i>Geometry of sets and measures in Euclidean spaces. Fractals and rectifiability</i> . Vol. 44. Cambridge University Press, 1995. zbl:0819.28004.
[MM97]	P. Mattila and R. D. Mauldin. <i>Measure and dimension functions: Measurability and densities</i> . Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 121 (1997), 81–100. zbl:0885.28005.
[RU16]	L. Rempe-Gillen and M. Urbański. <i>Non-autonomous conformal iterated function systems and Moran-set constructions</i> . Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 368 (2016), 1979–2017. zbl:1404.28017.
[Rob11]	J. C. Robinson. <i>Dimensions, embeddings, and attractors</i> . Vol. 186. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011. zbl:1222.37004.
[Shm19]	P. Shmerkin. On Furstenberg's intersection conjecture, self-similar measures, and the L^q norms of convolutions. Ann. Math. 189 (2019), 319–391. zbl:1426.11079.
[VK87]	A. L. Vol'berg and S. V. Konyagin. <i>On measures with duplication condition</i> . Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat. 51 (1987), 666–675. zbl:0649.42010.
[VK88]	A. L. Vol'berg and S. V. Konyagin. <i>On measures with the doubling condition</i> . Math. USSR, Izv. 30 (1988), 629–638. zbl:0727.28012.
[Wu19]	M. Wu. A proof of Furstenberg's conjecture on the intersections of $\times p$ - and $\times q$ -invariant sets. Ann. Math. 189 (2019), 707–751. zbl:1430.11106.

Antti Käenmäki

Research Unit of Mathematical Sciences, P.O. Box 8000, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland Email: antti.kaenmaki@oulu.fi

Alex Rutar

University of St Andrews, Mathematical Institute, St Andrews, KY16 9SS, Scotland Email: alex@rutar.org